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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

VISION
To be the leading triathlon nation and grow the sport of Triathlon in Australia

MISSION
To ensure the existence of quality participation opportunities and pathways within the sport of 

Triathlon in Australia

CORE BRAND VALUES

HEALTH  BELONGING  ACHIEVEMENT  RESPECT  ENJOYMENT
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Erin Densham’s Bronze medal 
at the London Olympic 

Games heralded the start of 
a year of solid performances 
by Australia’s elite triathletes. 
Erin’s success was quickly 
followed up by Aaron Royle 
winning the Elite U23 race at 
the ITU World Championships 
in Auckland. Throughout 
the year, it was particularly 
pleasing to see our younger 
triathletes rising to the 

challenge of their first experience in ITU World Triathlon 
Series and World Cup events.   

I recognise the increasingly competitive high 
performance programs conducted by many of our 
rival nations, and urge our high performance staff and 
coaches to make use of the professional development 
opportunities made available by the Australian Sports 
Commission to keep them “ahead of the game”. One 
aspect of athlete development which I urge coaches to 
take very seriously is the risk of athletes competing too 
frequently. With so many races to choose from each 
week, I realise the temptation to compete regularly is 
very real. However leading sports scientists are treating 
an increasing number of athletes who are burning out 
and becoming injured by competing too frequently.

As patron, I was delighted to hear that Triathlon 
Australia was one of thirteen National Sporting 
Organisations to receive additional High Performance 
funding through the government’s Winning Edge 
investment principles. Congratulations to those who 
contributed to the preparation of triathlon’s Winning 
Edge submission.  

Although it was disappointing for the sport that a 
decision on the inclusion of the team relay at Rio de 
Janeiro was not confirmed by the IOC, the inclusion of 
Paratriathlon in the 2016 Paralympics in Rio provides 
a great opportunity for Australian paratriathletes to 
compete and win on the world stage.   

I am also pleased to observe the continual growth of 
the sport at a grassroots participation level. I am aware 
of the large number of “novice” triathlon events held 
around the country, and understand the value of good 
quality events in promoting lifelong participation in 
sport. 

I enjoy being patron of this contemporary, exciting 

sport and I wish the athletes, Board members, staff 
and volunteers of Triathlon Australia all the best for a 
successful year ahead.

PHIL COLES
PATRON
TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA

PATRON’S MESSAGE
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While it doesn’t seem like 
twelve months since we 
met on the Gold Coast and 
I was elected as President 
of Triathlon Australia, a 
review of our achievements 
as an association over that 
time reflects the hard work 
of the numerous people 
involved in both an official 
and unofficial capacity.

Over the past twelve 
months I have had an 
opportunity to visit of 
the States and Territories 

in either an official capacity or as a competitor 
at an event. On each of these occasions I have 
been overwhelmed by the capacity of our triathlon 
community for hard work, by both our volunteers and 
our hard working employees.

The focus of our annual report is on achievement by our 
members in their capacity as athletes, both elite and 
age-group, officials, coaches or administrators.

The 2013 year has been one of transition for our high 
performance team with the appointment of a new High 
Performance Director and transition of some of our 
senior athletes from short course competition to the 
long course format. I want to take this opportunity 
to thank Michael flynn and Shaun Stephens for their 
efforts in managing the high performance team in the 
period prior to December 2012. Australia has a rich 
history in short course competition and athletes like 
Emma Snowsill, Courtney Atkinson and Brad Kahlefeldt 
have been a major part of this success. I wish them all 
of the best for their future endeavours.

A focus on the development of junior athletes over 
recent years that has resulted in identification of some 
promising junior athletes culminated in a clean sweep 
by our junior athletes in the challenging conditions 
for the Australian Youth Olympic festival (“AYOf”) in 
January 2013. Identification of talented athletes was 
a key reason for a successful application by our high 
performance team for additional funding as part of the 
ASC’s Winning Edge strategy. Our efforts also resulted 
in the Ironman World Championships being included as 
one of our high performance KPI’s by the ASC.

The 2012-2013 year saw some outstanding 
performances by our elite athletes and these were 
celebrated at our Celebration of Champions Awards 

dinner in March 2013. It was a pleasure to celebrate 
the Olympic and World Championship efforts of our elite 
and age group athletes, including Erin Densham, Pete 
Jacobs, Aaron Royle, Bill Chaffey, Chris McCormack and 
felicity Sheedy-Ryan. While Chris McCormack and Pete 
Jacobs were unable to attend the event held on the 
Sunshine Coast, it was a pleasure to present awards 
to Pete Jacobs in Melbourne during the Melbourne 
Ironman celebrations.

While there was a focus on the current achievements 
of our members at the annual awards dinner, the major 
highlights came from our celebration of achievements 
over a longer period time. These included the award 
of Life Membership to Brian Hinton and Ken Bonham, 
presentation of the inaugural winners of the Service to 
the Sport Award to David Hansen and Garth Prowd and 
the opportunity to admit Brad Beven as a member of 
the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame.

In my role as President I have the privilege of 
attending the meetings of many of our board sub-
committees. There is a large group of volunteers on 
these committees that give of their time to provide us 
with the benefit of their knowledge and expertise. Many 
of the achievements highlighted in our annual report 
are in part a consequence of the efforts of these sub-
committees. Without diminishing the achievements of 
any one committee I am going to particularly thank the 
members of the paratriathlon committee for their work 
in expanding the opportunities for our paratriathlon 
community and the technical committee for their 
continued efforts in maintaining the safety and fairness 
of our events.

In the further development of our sport we have plans 
as an association to appoint a number of key personnel 
with experience in the technical side of our sport. for 
a long time we have relied on hard working volunteers 
to meet our obligations as an association to the safety 
and fairness of events with limited assistance. The 
financial stability of our association provides us with 
an opportunity to provide greater assistance to our 
volunteers. 

In early 2013 we completed a review of our strategic 
plan, including our key value drivers. During this 
process we were reminded that there was a deficiency 
in our existing value drivers and we agreed to add 
‘Respect’. We consider this to be a fundamental driver 
of the association and is the value that we consider 
before making any decision as an association.

The sport of triathlon has taken giant leaps in recent 

PRESIDENT’S REVIEW
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years. In this our annual report you will read about 
significant increases in membership levels, diversity in 
member benefits, improvements in our relationships 
with event directors and many other initiatives. These 
initiatives have been driven by co-operation of the 
hard working executive resources within our sport, the 
efforts of a united group of Presidents (together with 
their Boards) and a group of forward thinking directors. 

While the further evolution of our sport will come from 
the continued efforts of these groups, all of this would 
be in vain without our members. If we continue to keep 
this front of mind as we manage our associations, we 
will continue the move forward as a sport.

DAvID FERRIER
PRESIDENT
TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA
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five individual words are 
the focus of my CEO report 
this year. The five words 
are: 

HEALTH

ENJOYMENT

BELONGING

ACHIEVEMENT

RESPECT

These five words represent 
the core values of the 

sport of triathlon in Australia. They are articulated in 
our Strategic Plan, and in several other framework 
documents. During a mid-term review of our Strategic 
Plan earlier this year we added Respect to our existing 
four values.

In my two previous CEO Reports, I have focussed on 
our 6 Key Result Areas of: 

 • Organisational Excellence
 • Participation
 • Membership
 • Events
 • High Performance
 • Brand 

This year the new structure of our Annual Report 
ensures that each of the Key Result Areas is 
comprehensively reported upon, leaving me free to 
focus on how we have developed and delivered the 
sport of triathlon in Australia in accordance with our 
values.

It is important to remember that all of us who choose 
to work or volunteer in sport are doing so to make 
people’s lives better. Whether it’s as a race participant, 
a coach, a technical official, an event organiser, a 
parent, a supporter, or a spectator, the sport of triathlon 
should serve to enhance the lives of our triathlon 
community. I think sometimes we forget the simplicity 
of this concept and try to make things too complicated.
 
I have a strong belief in the fundamental value of sport 
to our community. Vision statements come and go, but 
one which has withstood the test of time is the vision 
of the Australian Sports Commission (ASC). for over 
20 years, the vision of the ASC has been “Enriching the 
lives of all Australians through sport”. I believe that 
those of us who work and volunteer in triathlon can 

contribute to this vision by enriching the lives of many 
Australians through the sport of triathlon.

Our five core values provide excellent guideposts 
to ensure that we are enriching the lives of our 
community.  

HEALTH
There is no doubt that a healthy lifestyle enhances 
our own life and the lives of those with whom we 
share relationships. We know that triathlon offers 
opportunities for increased physical and psychological 
health. Our particular challenge at Triathlon Australia is 
to ensure that we provide healthy and safe competition 
and training opportunities for people of all ages and 
ability. The increasingly good relationships we enjoy 
with event organisers and clubs ensures that we can 
do this. Our robust technical program (including our 
Technical Official training program which is one of only 
four national programs accredited by the ITU) ensures 
that our sanctioned events are safe and fair. At the 
elite end of the sport, our High Performance Program 
ensures that the physical and psychological health 
and well-being of our elite athletes is an absolute 
imperative. 

ENJOYMENT
This is pretty simple – for anyone involved in triathlon 
in any way, we aim to make their experience as 
enjoyable as possible, so that they will continue their 
involvement in the sport. We do this in many ways 
– ensuring that events are conducted in a manner 
which provides a race day “buzz” for both participants 
and spectators, providing a unique travel experience 
for members of our age group world championship 
teams, and developing elite athletes that offer our 
triathlon community enjoyment from watching our 
green and gold clad athletes go head to head with their 
international rivals on the world stage. We also offer 
opportunities for members of our triathlon community 
to enjoy social gatherings at conferences, forums and 
awards dinners or at functions as members of affiliated 
triathlon clubs.

BELONGING
We aim to ensure that triathlon offers our community 
the opportunity to feel that they are part of a 
“movement” which is bigger than the sum of its parts.  
A movement to which they can contribute and from 
which they can benefit. We recognise that many of 
our participants choose the sport of triathlon because 
of its very individual nature – you don’t have to be at 
a football field, basketball court or athletics track for 
team training sessions. However it is important that 
we provide opportunities for even the most die-hard 

CEO’S REPORT
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individuals to feel a sense of belonging to the sport 
of triathlon. A simple way we do this is through our 
support for clubs. We understand that clubs are the 
lifeblood of our triathlon community. We constantly 
aim to increase the level of service and support which 
we provide to clubs and training groups. Membership 
of our National and State Boards, sub-committees 
and club committees offer members the opportunity 
to belong at a more involved level, by contributing to 
the direction and development of the sport. Our high 
performance program enables our elite athletes to 
belong to a high quality daily training environment, and 
for all of us to feel a strong sense of belonging to our 
sport and our country, as we watch our elite athletes 
cross the finish line or stand on the podium at a medal 
ceremony.  

ACHIEVEMENT
Our aim is to ensure that members of our triathlon 
community can achieve the level of skill, fitness and 
performance to which they aspire. The availability 
of novice events makes it possible for newcomers to 
achieve the completion of their very first triathlon. 
for those who are not quite ready for a full triathlon, 
the range of team events enables them to achieve 
the completion of one leg for their team. The breadth 
of events included in our race calendar ensures that 
participants can continue challenging themselves to 
longer races, or faster times. Our coach and technical 
accreditation programs enable coaches and technical 
officials to achieve higher levels of skill and mastery 
in their area of interest. Our National Talent Academy 
and High Performance daily training environments 
enable our most talented triathletes to achieve success 
on the international stage. Our National Awards 
and Recognition framework ensures that those who 
have achieved in a variety of areas of our sport are 
appropriately recognised and celebrated.  

RESPECT
We aim to ensure that this fifth and important value 
is embodied in everything we do. We encourage the 
members of our triathlon community to do the same. 

• Through the design of our programs and 
facilitation of events, we respect the individual 
differences of ability amongst those who participate 
in triathlon events. 

• Through our governance arrangements, we 
respect the individual differences of opinion offered 
by members of our Board and committees. 

• Through our relationships with event organisers, 
we respect their expertise and commitment to 
growing our sport. 

• Through our technical program, we respect the 
skill of our technical officials to apply the rules of our 
sport in a fair and impartial manner. 

• Through our coach development programs, we 
respect the skills of our coaches as they bring out 

the best in the athletes whom they are coaching. 

Our Triathlon Integrity framework sets out the core 
principles of respect which we believe will protect the 
integrity of our sport.  

Many of our internal meetings now commence with a 
short “values moment” where we share observations 
and experiences of the values of our sport being 
demonstrated by members of our triathlon community.  
Increasingly we are making decisions and taking 
actions based on our five core values. We frequently 
ask ourselves the question – “Is what we are about to 
do or to say in alignment with our values?”.

If what we are doing or planning to do at Triathlon 
Australia is not enacting our values by making the 
lives of our triathlon community healthier and more 
enjoyable, if it is not offering a sense of belonging and 
the opportunity for achievement, and if is not ensuring 
that our members feel respected at all times, then we 
should not be doing it.

I have certainly enjoyed leading our sport through the 
last 12 months of remarkable growth and development.  
I pay tribute to our National Board for their steady and 
strategic governance under the leadership of outgoing 
President Peter Hedge and incoming President David 
ferrier. I feel privileged to have attracted and retained 
a truly skilled, committed and passionate team of 
staff members who make my job so much easier. I 
look forward to the next 12 months during which I am 
confident that the sport of triathlon in Australia will 
continue to grow and flourish, enriching the lives of 
many Australians.

ANNE GRIPPER
CEO
TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA
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MESSAGE fROM THE 
ASC

The Australian Sports 
Commission (ASC) has 
two core goals - ensuring 
Australian athletes excel in 
the international sporting 
arena, and increasing 
Australians’ participation in 
sport. 

These two clear objectives 
are mutually reinforcing 
– international success 
inspires Australians to 
participate in sport, and 
greater participation helps 

nurture our future champions. Sport not only inspires 
and unites, it also promotes community involvement, 
cohesion and active lifestyles. 

Australians are inspired by success on the world sporting 
stage – it’s central to who we are as a nation.  The 2012 
London Olympics showed that the standards required for 
elite international success keep increasing relentlessly. 
Traditional competitors keep getting better, and rising 
countries have become forces to be reckoned with in 
many of our stronghold sports.  If we want to continue to 
enjoy the success we expect, we need to respond to this 
new environment in circumstances where Government 
funding for high performance sport is likely to be 
constrained at current levels.  

This means we need to raise the bar ourselves in 
everything we do in high performance sport - our talent 
identification and development, coaching, sports science, 
use of technology and innovation, and the management 
and administration structures that support our athletes. It 
is fundamental to success that we set the same standards 
of excellence and accountability in all of these areas that 
we expect of our athletes on competition day.  The ASC, 
which is investing a record $170 million this year in high 
performance programs, has the responsibility to ensure 
that we have high performance support structures in 
place to enable high performance sporting success.  We 
have significant work to do on these fronts.  Our partner 
sports can expect much sharper focus by the ASC in 
future on best practice governance and administration, 
intellectual property ownership, athlete management 

and support structures and general accountabilities by 
the sports.    

Despite recent events that have impacted upon the 
integrity of sport, it is important to emphasise that our 
commitment to elite international sporting success will 
never compromise our commitment to integrity in sport.  
Our belief in, and requirement for sports to uphold, the 
values of fair and honest competition is inviolable. 

Importantly, the ASC is investing $120 million this year 
to promote grassroots participation in sport throughout 
Australia and to continue a suite of successful national 
programs such as the Active After-school Communities 
program. Increased community sport participation has 
a profound long term dividend, and remains a vital 
objective of the ASC notwithstanding the challenges in 
high performance sport.  

The ASC looks forward to working in collaboration with 
the sport sector to encourage more people into sport and 
to drive Australia’s continued sporting success. 

MR JOHN WYLIE AM
CHAIRMAN 
BOARD Of THE AUSTRALIAN SPORTS 
COMMISSION
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BOARD Of DIRECTORS
President 
DaviD Ferrier
Resident of Melbourne, VIC
Elected to the Board as President 
in October 2012

David Ferrier has been a qualified 
accountant for more than 23 
years, is an Associate member 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, and is a partner 
and Australian Service Line 

Head of the forensic service division for international 
accounting firm BDO. David was formerly a partner of 
the international accounting firm KPMG.

David has competed nationally for many years and 
represented Australia on the age group team at the 
Vancouver World Championships in 2008 and at the 
recent London World Championships. He previously 
spent 18 months as the Chief Financial Officer of a 
private business and, as a Board member, aims to 
combine his love of triathlon with his financial acumen.

interested director 
CassanDra erbs

Resident of Brisbane, QLD
Elected to the Board in October 
2010

Cassandra is a Marketing 
communication professional with 
more than ten years’ experience 
working in the private and 
public sectors with in-house and 

consultancy roles.

Cassandra is currently the Marketing Director at St 
Margaret’s Anglican Girls School and St Aidan’s Anglican 
Girls’ School, and has previously held a position on the 
Triathlon Queensland Board of Directors. Cassandra has 
held positions such as Marketing Manager at UQ Sport 
and Senior Account Manager at P4 Group.

interested director 
Murray HilDer

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Elected to the Board in November 
2009

Murray is a technical official with 
vast national and international 
experience having been involved 
in all levels of triathlon, from 
juniors to world championships 

and Olympic Games. 

Murray has competed in several Ironman races and 
is a member of Cronulla Triathlon Club, where he 
has served on the committee. Along with performing 
various senior technical roles at international events, 
Murray held the role of Technical Chair and Race 
Sanctioning Officer for Triathlon NSW from 2003-07, 
and was instrumental in achieving NOAS accreditation 
for the Technical Officials Program through the ASC. 
Murray was selected as an ITO at the 2012 London 
Olympic Games.

interested director 
ben Houston

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Elected to the Board in October 
2012

Ben is a qualified Lawyer, holding 
a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) from 
Bond University. As a Corporate 
Counsel for Telstra for over 8 
years, Ben has been responsible 

for providing legal support to Telstra’s Media, Brand, 
Advertising and Sponsorships teams and also has 
commercial experience managing Telstra’s sports and 
arts sponsorship portfolio. Prior to joining Telstra, Ben 
was a Senior Associate at Blake Dawson Waldron (now 
Ashurst Lawyers).

Ben is a keen triathlete having represented Australia 
as an age group athlete at the 2007 Hamburg World 
Championships.
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interested director 
MiCk Maroney

Resident of Sydney, NSW
Appointed to the Board in May 
2012

Mick has been involved in the 
sport of Triathlon for 31 years 
as a professional athlete, age 
group competitor, coach, race 
director, volunteer, and held 
administrative and executive 

positions. Mick is a Life Member of Cronulla triathlon 
Club and an active member of Engadine Triathlon club.

As an athlete Mick represented Australia in 1990 at 
the Auckland Commonwealth Games, won the Noosa 
Triathlon in 1989, and has won 3 world titles as an age 
group competitor. Mick holds six University degrees 
including a doctorate in education.

indePendent director 
JaCqui kenny

Resident of Brisbane, QLD
Appointed to the Board in 
December 2010

Jacqui’s involvement with 
triathlon began as a participant 
in 1984 and as an official in 
1989 while living in Canada. In 

1990 Jacqui was a technical official for the ITU World 
Triathlon Championships in florida, USA and also a 
member of the Ontario Association of Triathletes Board 
and the Triathlon Canada Board. 

Jacqui has held a number of appointments within 
Triathlon Queensland as a Board Member, Technical 
Committee Chair and National Technical Committee 
State Representative and is currently the Chair of the 
Triathlon Australia National Technical Committee. Jacqui 
has over 20 years’ experience in sales and marketing 
in the scientific industry, currently working for Roche 
Diagnostics.

indePendent director 
Miles stewart

Resident of Gold Coast, QLD
Appointed to the Board in April 
2011

Miles has an impressive 
background in swimming, speed 
skating, duathlon, aquathlon, 
triathlon and cycling - winning 
national championships in all 
six sports. He made his debut 

as a professional triathlete at the age of 15, and went 
on to win the World Indoor Championships, a World 
Cup Championship, 10 ITU World Cups, the 1996 and 
2000 Australian Championships and, added two World 
Records to his name.

Miles finished 6th in the 2000 Olympic Games, 2nd at 
the 2002 Commonwealth Games, and was awarded the 
Australian Sports Medal in 2001. Miles remains actively 
involved with triathlons and his foremost priority is to 
help raise the level of junior talent in Australia. He now 
works in property as a National Retail Leasing Manager.



16 | www.triathlon.org.au

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

BOARD SUB COMMITTEES
2012-2013

AGE GROUP COMMITTEE
Michael Maroney (Chair M 45-49) 

Anne Besser (f 60-64)

Tony Duffy (M 50-54)

Cyrma Hearn (f 35-39)

James Rosborough (M30-34)

Leanne Southwell (f 40-44)

Katie Kelly (Executive Support) 

ELITE ATHLETES’ COMMISSION
Annabel Luxford (Chair and National Team 

representative) 

Joshua Amberger (Elite Athlete representative)

Erin Densham (National Team representative)

Chris McCormack (Elite Athlete representative)

Bryce Quirk (former Elite Athlete representative)

AWARDS COMMITTEE
John Barker (Chair)

Emma Carney (former Elite athlete)

Brian Hinton (former Board Member)

Jane Hunt (Historian)

Amanda Lulham (Journalist)

Noel McMahon (Journalist)

Anne Gripper (CEO)

Kate Gallop (Executive Support)

ELITE ATHLETE SELECTION 
COMMITTEE
Ian fullager (Chair)

Miles Stewart (Board representative)

Melissa Ashton-Garard (former Elite Athlete)

Brian Hinton (former Board Member)

Bernard Savage (Executive Support)

COMMUNICATION COMMITTEE
Cassandra Erbs (Chair)

Ian Hanson (Media management)

Karl Hayes (Online journalist)

Reece Homfray (Print journalist)

Ben Houston (Board Representative/Commercial Media)

David Mackay (Sports Journalist)

Derek Mollison (Communications consultant)

Philip Stoneman (Athlete Management consultant)

Anne Gripper (CEO)

Kate Gallop (Executive Support)

HIGH PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE
Miles Stewart (Chair)

Melissa Ashton-Garard (former Elite Athlete)

Phil Borgeaud (AIS)

Andrew Collins (ASC)

Ben Gathercole (former coach)

Anne Gripper (CEO)

Mick Maroney (Board Representative) 

Bernard Savage (Executive Support)
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PARATRIATHLON COMMITTEE
Murray Hilder (Chair)

Anne Gripper (CEO)

Michael Hartung (Australian Paralympic Committee)

Lindy Hou (Athlete)

Michael Milton (Athlete)

Craig Redman (National Manager, Athlete Development)

Bernard Savage (National High Performance Director)

Mark Williamson (TRIDIS Project Manager)

Katie Kelly (Executive Support)

PRESIDENTS COMMITTEE
David ferrier (TA)

Phil Blumberg (NT)

Anthony Burke (VIC) 

Chris Clohesy (SA)

Brad Gunn (QLD)

Marcus Haward (TAS)

Steve Hough (ACT) 

Grant Leslie (NSW)

Peter Rash (WA)

Anne Gripper (CEO)

Stuart Hoopmann (Executive Support)

NATIONAL TECHNICAL COMMITTEE
Jacqui Kenny (Chair)

Phil Blumberg (NT)

Suzie Bower (TAS)

Debbie Hooper Lees (QLD)

Gaye Mckean (WA)

Dave Schutz (SA)

Jon Treloar (VIC)

Gai Webster (ACT)

Dave Williams (NSW) 

Troy Watson (Executive Support)

PARTICIPATION COMMITTEE
Anne Gripper (Chair)

Simon Auty (Triathlon VIC)

Melissa Backhouse (ASC)

Wayne Goldsmith (National Manager, Coach 

Development)

Geoff Howe (ASC)

Sarah Mareuil (Triathlon ACT)

Samantha Shields (WA Department of Sport and 

Recreation)

Troy Watson (National Manager, Events and Technical)

Katie Kelly (Executive Support)
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STAff MEMBERS
HEAD OFFICE

CHIEf EXECUTIVE OffICER Anne Gripper

NATIONAL MANAGER, CORPORATE SERVICES Stuart Hoopmann

NATIONAL MANAGER, PARTICIPATION AND MEMBERSHIP Katie Kelly (maternity cover for Alexandra fehon)

NATIONAL MANAGER, EVENTS AND TECHNICAL Troy Watson

NATIONAL MANAGER, COACH DEVELOPMENT Wayne Goldsmith

NATIONAL MANAGER, COMMUNICATION AND PROJECTS Kate Gallop

fINANCE MANAGER Mui Choy

ADMINISTRATION COORDINATOR Alison fennell

HIGH PERFORMANCE STAFF

NATIONAL PERfORMANCE DIRECTOR Michael flynn until December 2012/Bernard Savage from January 2013 

NATIONAL MANAGER, ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT Craig Redman

HIGH PERfORMANCE OPERATIONS MANAGER Emma Whitelaw

NATIONAL TALENT ACADEMY STAFF

NATIONAL TALENT COACH (ACT/NSW) Keiran Barry

NATIONAL TALENT COACH (QLD/NT) Craig Walton

NATIONAL TALENT COACH (VIC/TAS) Jan Rehula/Peter Robertson

NATIONAL TALENT COACH (WA/SA) Chris Lang until April 2013/Dan Atkins from April 2013

AUSTRALIAN INTERNATIONAL REPRESENTATIVES

ITU VICE PRESIDENT Bill Walker

ITU EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBER - OCEANIA Jenny Mann (until Oct 2012)

ITU MULTISPORT COMMISSION MEMBER Brian Hinton (until Oct 2012)

ITU COACHES COMMITTEE Shaun Stephens (until Dec 2012)

ITU PARATRIATHLON COMMITTEE Murray Hilder (from Oct 2012)

OTU VICE PRESIDENT Peter Hedge (from Oct 2012)
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Triathlon Australia has 8 affiliated State and Territory Triathlon Associations. Known as the STTAs, they are the 
voting members of the national body. 

Over the 2012-2013 season, 14,152 individual members and 158 triathlon clubs affiliated with Triathlon Australia 
via their State or Territory Association.

Below is a summary of the membership figures and highlights achieved from each STTA throughout the 2012-2013 
membership season.

2012-2013 
STTA CLUB AFFILIATION FIGURES

2012-2013
STTA MEMBERSHIP FIGURES

AROUND THE NATION 
fIGURES & HIGHLIGHTS
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Membership to Triathlon ACT grew by 23% over the previous years figure – a key factor was the discounted 
membership fee offered to club members, and two commercially-based training squads affiliated as clubs.

Preparation of a contingency site for all 2012-2013 races ensured that Lake Burley Griffin water quality issues did 
not affect any of those events, although one of the affiliated club events was unfortunately affected by a one-off 
spike in algae concentrations.

Competitor numbers increased over the previous season for the triathlon and aquathlon events held in ACT over 
the 2012-2013 season.

Triathlon ACT was successful in applying for an ACT Government grant to assist in the purchase of an RfID Race 
Timing system to be used in the events for the 2013-2014 season and in future years.

The Triathlon ACT board continues to work with clubs to ensure the direction and provision of programs and events 
meets members’ expectations. 

Triathlon ACT continued to review its strategic plan to ensure appropriate alignment with the national strategic 
plan and with the territory’s objectives.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON ACT
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Membership to Triathlon NSW grew by 13.5% to an all-time record of 4,391 individual members by the end of 
March 2013.

Two Women’s Triathlon festivals were hosted; each attracting over 800 entrants, more than doubling the 
participation by women compared to previous year.

Race Director Elite Energy introduced a women’s specific race at their major triathlon festival in Huskisson 
attracting almost 1,000 women racing the sprint distance event.

A sell out series of sprint distance races at Kurnell on the waters of Botany Bay attracted fields of 800 competitors 
to each of the 4 events.

A new record field of over 1,050 competitors lined up to represent their Club at the NSW Club Championships 
which was won by Warringah Triathlon Club.

The relationship with the NSW Regional Academy of Sports delivered triathlon programs in 6 of the Academies 
across the state.

Triathlon NSW hosted the first ever Australian Paratriathlon Championships to the acclaim of the 30 competitors 
and the Australian Paralympic Committee (APC). 

The Triathlon NSW board approved a move to a new membership model that required all club members to be 
members of Triathlon NSW/TA to be introduced effective as of July 1 2013.

Triathlon NSW provided clubs the technology to host online membership and race entry sites and by year’s end 
this facility was being used by 50 affiliated clubs in the state in some way.

Triathlon NSW employed a new Membership and Participation Manager to build club capability and to develop and 
support initiatives to grow participation in the sport.

52 affiliated triathlon clubs assisted greatly in maintaining the inclusive and supportive nature of the sport. It was 
pleasing to note that 93% of members of the association were members of their local club.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON NSW
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The Northern Territory recorded an impressive percentage of triathletes per head of population: 2,016 members 
per million of population.

Triathlon NT appointed Tim Ellison as the Triathlon NT Development Officer, overseeing Junior and Coach 
Development. Tim has vast experience in the development of young Northern Territory sportsmen and women 
over the past 10 years in both triathlon and cycling, and coaches elite junior athletes at a national level. 

The Triathlon NT Junior Development Program was launched consisting of a 12 month program with 3 live-in 
development camps, culminating in a NT ITU draft legal Junior Championships. The first two camps were run in 
April and June and were attended by juniors from Alice Springs, Darwin, Gove and Katherine.

The Triathlon NT Coach Development Program doubled the number of TA accredited coaches in the NT from 7 to 
15 over the year; located in Alice Springs, Darwin, Katherine and Gove.  

Triathlon NT hosted 2 National Qualifying Events – Ray White NT Sprint Distance Championships (Darwin) and 
finlays NT Long Distance Championships (Darwin), along with the NT Olympic Distance Championships (Darwin) 
and the NT Duathlon Championships (Alice Springs).

There was a wide range of participation events for those wanting to try triathlon, with women being given their 
own participation events in both Alice Springs (frampton’s Women’s Triathlon) and Darwin (fernwood All Girls 
Tri). The Kakadu Triathlon was an incredibly successful community event held in Jabiru, and the SBJV Corporation 
Triathlon in Darwin saw over 200 people take part in their first triathlon.

Triathlon NT had a strong Age Group representation at National and World Championship events: 2 Australian 
National Age Group Champions (Derek Cross, Corinne fabian), 2 athletes at the ITU Aquathon World 
Championships in New Zealand (Monica Stewart  who won a silver medal and Justin Tranter), 3 athletes at the ITU 
Sprint Distance World Championships in New Zealand (Helen Bretten, Ali Croser, Justin Tranter), 2 athletes at the 
ITU Olympic Distance World Championships in New Zealand (Ron Griep, Kate Robertson) and 2 athletes at the ITU 
Long Distance World Championships in Spain (Steve Goat, Shaye Hatty). Triathlon NT also had over 50 finishes in 
various iron distance events and 2 at Ironman World Championships, Kona (Kylie Gaffel, Robyn Stanley).

The Department of Sport and Recreation provided fantastic support to Triathlon NT increasing their grant in the 
2012 - 2013 year. Their continued support greatly assists Triathlon NT to grow the sport of Triathlon within the NT.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON NT
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Triathlon QLD enjoyed a significant surge in membership recording a 40% increase to 3,200 
members.

Participation increased by 20% to over 45,000 participant entries in more than 400 races spread 
across the state in areas such as Port Douglas, Mount Isa, Toowoomba, Surfers Paradise, and all 
parts in-between.

A major club based initiative was launched in the form of the Nissan Club Championships consisting of four races 
where the club with the most points after the last race took away the largest club prize in Australia – a brand 
new Nissan X-Trail valued at over $30,000. The winners of the inaugural Nissan Club Championships were Reddog 
Triathlon.

Triathlon QLD continued to raise the bar in terms of quality and quantity of event delivery. Series race entries were 
up significantly with two races recording over 100% increases in participation from the previous season.

The signature Triathlon Queensland event – The Moreton Bay Triathlon festival - saw over 800 competitors enjoy a 
fabulous Olympic distance event on Moreton Bay that was appreciated by many inter-state competitors as a good 
lead into the World Championships in Auckland a month later.

Triathlon QLD again recorded the highest numbers of participants attending and completing the Level 1 coaching 
course with the first ever full-course participant accreditation completion occurring during the season.

The combined state and national active inclusion initiative for athletes with a disability made significant strides 
during the season and once implemented will provide a valuable resource for participants, clubs, event organisers 
and coaches.

The Triathlon QLD Development Squad continued to grow recording a 20% increase in athlete numbers from the 
previous season sending squads to Devenport, Penrith and Wellington.

former QLD Development Squad member Emma Jackson was one of just three female athletes selected to 
represent Australia at the 2012 London Olympic Games, finishing in a highly commendable 7th place for her debut 
Olympic performance.

One of the states most committed volunteers, Shawn Brosnan, retired from the Technical Program after many 
years of dedicated service in a multitude of roles.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON qLD
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Membership to Triathlon SA grew by 35% to reach its highest ever record of 590 individual members.

Triathlon SA secured sponsorship for the State series events through Lynas Auto Group.

A club championship event was established for the first time in a number of years at Loxton.

Triathlon SA experienced a strong growth in its junior program in both numbers and quality, and were represented 
at every national junior and youth race in Australia.

In association with Triathlon Australia and event delivery partner Pro Results, Triathlon SA celebrated securing the 
2015 ITU World Duathlon Championships for Adelaide.

Once again the stunning setting of the Barossa Valley played host the Australian and Oceania Duathlon 
Championships om October 2012.

In conjunction with the Adelaide Triathlon Club, Triathlon SA launched a State Duathlon Series at Victoria Park.

Triathlon SA achieved an increase in the number of technical officials at events, with many officiating at major 
races around Australia and overseas in Abu Dhabi.

Long distance racing was prevalent in SA with the Murray Man again hosting the Australian Age Group Long 
Distance Championships.

Triathlon SA took part in a 360 Degree review in conjunction with the Department of Recreation and Sport and 
conducted other surveys which gave members the opportunity to have their say in the sport.

Michael Haarsma was appointed as a full-time State Director in August 2012 to help grow the sport and service 
the members of SA.

Increased cooperation with race directors resulted in increased participation initiatives, helping to maintain people 
in the sport for longer.

The network of clubs grew by 25% with the additions of Mount Gambier Triathlon Club and Pirie Rangers Triathlon 
Club.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON SA
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HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON TAS

The Triathlon TAS club-based program saw a range of events completed with the state series again providing great 
opportunity for competition.

The Australian Olympic Distance Championships were hosted in Devonport, generating exceptional competition 
despite challenging swim conditions.

The Coles Bay event was extended into a full half iron distance race, and continued to grow in numbers providing 
competitors and spectators the chance to race in one of the most scenic spots in the country with top ranked 70.3 
distance athlete competing.

The Schools Triathlon Challenge provided a great vehicle to introduce both children and their parents to the sport, 
almost reaching capacity in its current form in Hobart. Junior training programs delivered through clubs also saw 
increased numbers of junior triathletes taking part.

Life membership was conferred upon Royce fairbrother after many dedicated years of service to the sport during 
an awards evening to recognising performances of athletes and volunteers.

The Triathlon Tasmania State Series was a success across the different distances and venues: Latrobe, Beauty 
Point, Coles Bay and Seven Mile Beach and Devonport. The State Duathlon Championship was held in October 
2012 at Symmons Plains where a good field, completed the event in difficult conditions. 

Stong performances from Tasmania athletes include James Hodge who won the Busselton Half Ironman in May 
2012 and Jake Birtwhislte who won Gold in the 2013 Australian Youth Olympic festival Triathlon, the 2013 
Australian U23 Triathlon Sprint Championships, the 2013 Australian Junior Triathlon Championships and the 2013 
Oceania Junior Championships.

Triathlon Tasmania has maintained a strong commitment to the technical program with Steve Quinn taking over as 
Technical Chair after many years of service from Suzie Bower. Peter Adams became sanctioning officer after many 
years of service from Adrian Granger.



26 | www.triathlon.org.au

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

Triathlon VIC enjoyed a 19% increase in membership coming from both metropolitan and regional areas.

Victorian Clubs collectively reported increased membership, with an overall club membership growth of more than 
30%.

An increased and more diverse range of races from X-Terra to IM Asia Pacific resulted in more than 38,000 
participant starts across all sanctioned races in Victoria.

VIS athlete Erin Densham produced a stunning Bronze Medal performance at the 2012 London Olympic Games. 
The strong relationship with the VIS continued with four athletes on full scholarships and a further two on training 
agreements.

The inaugural Yarrawonga Mulwala Multisport festival was a success which included the National Aquathlon 
Championships. This festival is destined to become the Victorian Club Championships in future years. The event 
was taken out by VIS athlete Peter Kerr. Two weeks later Peter won the Noosa Olympic Distance Triathlon.

In addition to running three metropolitan level one coaching courses Triathlon VIC also ran two inaugural regional 
coaching courses in Echuca Moama and Bairnsdale.

The introduction of a residential junior participation holiday program at Camp Ibis on the Banksia Peninsula was a 
successful initiative. These camps were aimed at 11-15 year olds.

The Triathlon VIC Development Squad continued to grow reaching 28 members. Dave Huggett and the coaching 
team were kept busy delivering a series of time trials, training sessions, camps and races. 

The winter Duathlon series was re-engineered. The changes proved successful with a good increase in attendance. 
The professional standard set by all clubs involved will ensure the ongoing success of the series.

Long term contributor to Triathlon VIC, Dave Huggett received the inaugural Presidents Award for his outstanding 
service to the sport in Victoria.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON vIC
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Triathlon WA held its Annual Awards function as a breakfast at fraser’s Restaurant in Kings Park. The breakfast 
was a huge success providing a strong sense of belonging to an extraordinary community of like-minded people.

The sport in WA echoes the national growth with participation up by 33% (from 19,000 up to over 25,000), and 
membership up by more than 16% (2,679 to 3,114) over the year. Junior membership is also on an upward spiral 
with more than 18% increase on previous years. 

The SunSmart TRYStars events delivered by WA Affiliated Clubs, and The Sunday Times Chillout Tadpoles races 
delivered by TriEvents provided children in WA over 20 participation opportunities throughout the year.    

Triathlon WA moved into a new office in Osborne Park to accommodate a growing staff base, also catering for 
growth over the next few years.

Kevin Penny was welcomed to the team in October 2012 as Education & Training Manager. Kevin has worked 
together with Grant Landers, the TEP Head Coach, to make significant progress and improvements to the TEP Elite 
athlete program and the Coach Education program. 

The Triathlon Excellence Program athletes travelled to six international events supported in varying capacity 
through the program. WA athlete Jaz Hedgeland achieved some outstanding performances including winning the 
Australian Youth Olympic festival triathlon, winning the National Junior Championships, and placing second at the 
Oceania OTU Championships. Jaz was also named the SCODY Australian Junior Series Champion.

Dan Atkins replaced Chris Lang as NTA coach in April 2013. Dan has been hard at work meeting with coaches and 
athletes over the past few months and will offer support to coaches, athletes and the pathway progression to a 
future WAIS program.  

The WA Technical Committee worked hard to improve on procedures to provide more clear and consistent 
guidelines to officials and have been working closely with Race Directors to formulate a Minimum Standards 
of Practice at Events to ensure a higher quality service to athletes. Employment of a Triathlon WA Sanctioning 
Officer has greatly assisted in the submission of higher quality sanctioning documents ensuring greater safety at 
Sanctioned Events. 

The 2013 SunSmart Ironman 70.3 Busselton and the Busselton festival of Triathlon was once again a resounding 
success with participant number over 3,000 and spectators of nearly 15,000. 

Triathlon WA conferred Life Membership upon President Peter Rash. Peter demonstrates integrity and quality 
leadership, always offering guidance and support to all staff and Board. He is a true ambassador for the sport, 
lives out its values each and every day, and is now a well-deserved Life Member of Triathlon WA.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM TRIATHLON WA
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KEY RESULT AREAS
ORGANISATIONAL EXCELLENCE

Key Objective
“To build a sustainable and prosperous organisation by enabling innovation, collaboration and excellence in the 

development of its assets”

PARTICIPATION
Key Objective 

“To grow participation in the sport of triathlon by providing leadership and increased opportunities”

MEMBERSHIP
Key Objective

“To grow membership by increasing the number of new members and retaining existing members”

EvENTS
Key Objective

“To ensure that opportunities exist at all levels to compete in events of the highest quality through leadership and 

collaboration”

HIGH PERFORMANCE
Key Objective

“Sustained international success through the provision of an effective and efficient athlete and coach pathway”

BRAND
Key Objective

“To develop the brand of Triathlon so as to increase external investment in the sport”
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ORGANISATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE

Key Objective
“To build a sustainable and prosperous organisation by enabling innovation, collaboration and excellence in the 

development of its assets”

Key Drivers

• Financial sustainability and growth
• A national operating model
• Communication and collaboration
• Efficient and effective systems and processes
• Quality governance and leadership
• Appropriate risk management policies
• Investment in whole of sport projects
• Compliance with ASC, ATO and ASIC requirements
• Attraction and retention of quality staff

Key Strategies

• Implement transparent and effective strategic/operational planning processes including an organisational   
  wide performance management system
• Create best practice documented policy and procedure guidelines
• Create and support an organisational environment based on collaboration, innovation & excellence
• Attract skilled committed people into governance and leadership roles
• Drive constitutional and structural change to create a unified/national approach
• Develop the culture of triathlon in line with its core values

Key Performance Indicators

• % variance from budget
• % increase in reserve
• % of prior year surplus invested in the sport
• % planned deliverables achieved
• % compliance achieved
• % staff retention
• Stakeholder satisfaction
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ORGANISATIONAL EXCELLENCE REPORT
National Operating Model

The aim of the National Operating Model is to create and embed a unified approach to the governance and 
management of triathlon in Australia. 

following an initial workshop in february 2012, the work continued at both a strategic and operational level 
during 2012-2013. The strategic aspects of the model were led by the Presidents Committee, consisting of David 
ferrier as the TA President and each of the STTA Presidents. They met monthly by teleconference and three times 
in person. The operational aspects of the unified approach were driven by the TA CEO and STTA Executive Officers.  

The concept of a membership model which requires all club members to be members of the state and national 
triathlon associations was discussed by the group and adopted for introduction in 2013-2014 by Triathlon NSW and 
Triathlon QLD. These States join Triathlon WA and Triathlon NT who have operated under this membership model 
for several years. The other STTAs have expressed a commitment to explore the concept with their member clubs, 
with the aim of introducing it in the next 2–3 years. It is believed that this membership model offers the best 
value and protection to both clubs and individual members.  

Changes to the national and STTA constitutions to further the unified approach were discussed and considered. 
This work continues to ensure that any constitutional changes optimise the efficiency with which we operate as a 
sport.    

Increasingly, at an operational level, the language has included the term “whole of sport”. During the year, Xero 
was adopted as a “whole of sport” accounting system and P4 Group were engaged to provide a “whole of sport” 
communications and sponsorship strategy. Most importantly a “whole of sport” approach was taken to budgeting, 
including the creation of a whole of sport investment pool. This makes Triathlon Australia the first National 
Sporting Organisation to achieve this, resulting in the Australian Sports Commission requesting information for the 
purposes of a case study.  

A committment to increasing organisational efficiency and enhancing our member services by continuing to evolve 
the national operating model will continue.

Whole of Sport Budgeting & funding process

Building on the good work that was started 2 years ago, this year the nine national and state associations 
commenced budgeting for 2013-2014 on an even more collaborative approach across the whole of sport. 

A formula based on both the existing reserves and the budgeted surpluses of TA and each STTA was used to 
determine each national and State or Territory association’s contribution to a pool of money that will then be used 
to fund various projects and initiatives across each of the 9 associations. 

After submitting budgets and new initiatives for consideration, the Presidents and Executive Officers of each 
association met during May 2013 in Bussleton, Western Australia to determine and agree on a new collaborative, 
robust and equitable approach to budgeting and funding. The funding model was agreed and the various projects 
and initiatives were then discussed, with consensus reached on how projects would be chosen for funding.

We believe that this new collaborative budgeting and funding process will:

provide more rigor around new initiatives and the use of limited financial resources/funds/member funds.•	
result in investments into areas with the highest priority.•	
help lift standards of membership services across the country.•	
enable each association to operate on a sound financial footing.•	
help build reserves to an acceptable level of 1 year’s fixed operating costs. •	
enable the better standardisation of processes and the creation of efficiencies across the sport.•	

This outcome could not have been achieved without the commitment and input to the process from both the staff 
and boards of TA and each State association.
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Whole of Sport Accounting, Reporting and IT systems

In addition significant progress was made towards the implementation of a common accounting software package, 
XERO, across the whole of sport. A new standardised reporting structure and chart of accounts was developed 
ready for a 1 July 2013 implementation date. Some of the benefits of the new software are standardised whole of 
sport reporting, the ability to support each other, mobility, efficiency and better data security. The new reporting 
structure aligns with new Australian Sports Commission (ASC) reporting requirements and will enable reporting to 
the ASC on a whole of sport basis which will be required as a condition of funding in the future. More importantly 
it will enable Triathlon Australia and the STTAs the ability to review whole of sport financial health, stability and 
financial integrity.

Work was also commenced on moving the 9 associations to a cloud based IT environment that will provide a 
superior more mobile, flexible, secure, efficient and collaborative platform from which the sport can prosper. This 
project is ready to implement and is scheduled for implementation in the first half of 2013-2014.
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% variance from budget

Target: <5% variance

% Increase in reserve

Target: 20% until a reserve of 1 years fixed operating costs is achieved

Year Opening reserve Closing reserve variance % Variance
2010-2011 55,826 447,147 391,321 701%
2011-2012 447,147 708,144 260,997 58%
2012-2013 708,144 846,281 138,137 20%

Operating Surplus Actual Budget vairance % Variance

2010-2011 391,321 99,315 292,006 294%
2011-2012 260,996 232,523 28,473 12%
2012-2013 138,137 229,578 -91,441 -40%

% of planned deliverables achieved

Target: 90% 

Of the 90 deliverables listed on the 2012-2013 Operational Plan, 59 (67%) were completed or fully achieved, 15 
(17%) were partially completed, and 16 (18%) were not achieved.

Deliverables achieved: 76%

% Compliance

Target: 100% 

Triathlon Australia met deadlines for all but one of its various reporting requirements to the Australian Taxation 
Office, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission and the Australian Sports Commission except for the 
annual acquittal of the High Performance and Participation funding to the Australian Sports Commission.

Key Performance Indicators: Organisational 
Excellence
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% Staff Retention

Target: 80% 

1 staff member resigned during 2012-2013. 

NB. Two members of the ASC staff, Michael flynn and Shaun Stephens who worked in the Triathlon High 
Performance program finished the fixed term contracts with the ASC in December 2012.

Staff retention achieved: 93%

Stakeholder satisfaction rating

Target: 70% 

We conducted an externally administered member survey which assessed the satisfaction of current members, 
lapsed members and one day members.  

The following graph shows the extent to which each of these groups were satisfied with a range of serviced 
provided by TA. The percentages indicate the number of people who rated Triathlon Australia as ‘good’ or ‘very 
good’ at each activity.

Overall stakeholder satisfaction rating (‘good’ or ‘very good’)achieved: 69%
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Key Objective
“To grow participation in the sport of triathlon by providing leadership and increased opportunities”

Key Drivers

• Promotion & awareness
• Coach and officials’ education
• Safe & friendly environments
• Access to facilities
• Opportunities for athletes with a disability to participate in events and activities

Key Strategies
• Develop coaching and officials’ education initiatives to better service all levels of the sport
• Develop junior and adult skills development programs
• Develop communication and web-based strategies to engage participants
• Develop value propositions through market analysis and insights into participation patterns to enable delivery of
  tailored benefits to participants

Key Performance Indicators
• Participation growth rate %
• % increase of participation in junior programs
• Program Participant satisfaction rating
• % increase of active accredited coaches as % of membership
• % increase in no. of active accredited coaches per member
• Ranking in ITU Age Group World Championship

PARTICIPATION
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SPORT DEVELOPMENT GRANTS
Triathlon Australia recognises the significant contribution made by professional event organisers to the success of 
triathlon in Australia.  

The association worked closely and collaboratively with event organisers over the year to ensure that they 
received the support needed to conduct safe and fair events for participants. In particular, event organisers were 
encouraged to submit bids for races on the National Calendar by increasing the status and value of the National 
Championships and National Qualifying races. 

During 2012-2013, Sport Development Grant Agreements were established with event organisers who were able 
to demonstrate their commitment to growing and developing the sport. In particular, with organisers who provide 
an excellent “front door” to the sport. Through the provision of professionally conducted entry level and team 
races, they offer a great introduction to the sport for new participants and importantly, a “race day buzz” for both 
the participants and the supporters they bring with them.
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OPPORTUNITIES fOR ATHLETES WITH A 
DISABILITY TO PARTICIPATE IN EVENTS 
AND ACTIVITES
With the announcement of the inclusion of paratriathlon 
into the Rio de Janeiro Paralympic Program for 2016 a 
year ago, Triathlon Australia has been working towards 
ensuring that systems are in place to enable a strong 
response to this exciting opportunity.

Therefore, the focus for this year has been around 
building the 2013-2016 Paratriathlon framework to 
provide strategic direction and to ensure that adequate 
processes are in place to support the evolution of the 
program.  

The development of the framework and related 
activities have been led through the Chair of the 
Paratriathlon Committee, Murray Hilder along with 
passionate and dedicated paratriathlon athletes 
and representatives from the Australian Paralympic 
Committee (APC).

There has been enormous progress made this year and 
a number of milestones have been achieved.

Participation
In collaboration with Triathlon QLD, the development 
of tools and resources for inclusion of athletes with 
a disability and paratriathlon programs into club 
structures has made good progress.  A special thanks 
to Mark Williamson from Triathlon QLD for his work in 
this area. 

World Championships
The Australian Paratriathlon team that competed at 
the Auckland World Championships in October 2012 
saw the largest representation since the Gold Coast 
World Championships in 2009.  From the five Australian 
representatives, dual gold medallist Bill Chaffey took 
out his third world championships in supreme form 
and excitement. Known as a specialist in cycling, Claire 
McLean added to her overachieving accomplishments 
and finished in third position in her category. With over 
160 paratriathletes competing in Auckland, Australia’s 
excellent results provided an insight that exciting times 
are certainly ahead in paratriathlon.

The Australian Team Members and their achievements 
were as follows: 

Bill Chaffey 1st Place Male Tri 1

Dale Grant 11th Place Male Tri 4
Jonathan Goerlach 5th Place Male Tri6
Claire McLean 3rd Place female Tri 4
Michael Milton 10th Place Male Tri 2

Road to Rio camp
In September 2012 a number of the Triathlon Australia 
Paratriathlon committee members and representatives 
from the World Championship team in Auckland were 
given the opportunity to attend the AIS in Canberra for 
a 4 day camp specifically for athletes with a disability.

The goal of the camp was to get developing athletes 
from a number of sports together, coinciding with the 
start of the 2012 Paralympic Games which enabled 
internet conversations between the camp and 
individuals in the Paralympic village in London.

The triathlon group consisted of 7 athletes and Corey 
Bacon as the coach representative. The athletes 
included:

Jonothan Goerlach – Tri 6•	
Darron Shields – Tri 1•	
Matt Brumby – Tri 1•	
Lindy Hou – Tri 6•	
Maria Strong – Tri 3•	
Michael Milton – Tri 2•	
Dale Grant – Tri 4•	

The camp provided several training sessions lead by 
AIS coaches along with workshops in communication, 
nutrition, recovery and drugs in sport. The recovery 
sessions were both theory and practical in the AIS 
recovery centre. Specific group sessions for the 
triathlon group involved race preparations, training, 
integrating training with a club, Auckland analysis and 
discussion of the National Championships to be held in 
Sydney in January 2013.

The atmosphere within the group was very enthusiastic 
with athletes willing to listen, ask questions and work 
hard in the training sessions. There was consensus 
within the group that camps like this one have 
great potential in bringing athletes together, sharing 
knowledge and experiences. 

Events
National Paratriathlon Qualifying events were 
established, comprising four events where 
paratriathletes could vie for points to be selected for 
the ITU Paratriathlon World Championships in London.  

The most notable of these four events was the 
inaugural National Paratriathlon Championships held at 
Penrith NSW in January 2013. 17 athletes took place 
in the event which was considered highly successful. 
A special thanks to Triathlon NSW for hosting the 
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event with supreme professionalism and respect for all 
involved. 

Classification
Work has been done to develop the structure necessary 
to conduct classification. Classification ensures that the 
paratriathlete competes equitably and fairly with other 
paratriathletes dependent upon their impairment.

During the National Paratriathlon Championships, a 
classification training workshop was held to train three 
Australian classifiers. The workshop was delivered 
by the Head ITU Classifier and representatives from 
the APC. At the end of 2012-2013 there were over 
20 classified paratriathletes in accordance with ITU 
classification procedures.

Handlers Network
A handlers training workshop was held during the 
National Paratriathlon Championships to educate 
handlers on their role in assisting paratriathletes on the 
field of play. 

Handler workshops will be delivered across the country 
in the next 12 months to support event organisers and 
paratriathletes at future events.
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AGE GROUP WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS

The 2012-2013 financial year continued to see outstanding results from Australian age group athletes at World 
Championship campaigns, reinforcing the rich age group culture that exists within the Australian triathlon 
community.

The Age Group committee worked tirelessly to ensure the right systems and processes were in place to enable 
athletes to achieve their goals during this period.

Under the leadership of the Chair, Dr Michael Maroney, the committee volunteered significant time and energy to 
ensure strategic direction was provided on a range of issues affecting age group participation including:

Approval of the ITU World Championship age group selection policies.•	
Approval of individual team member selection into the ITU World Championship campaigns.•	
Provision of strategic input into the budgetting process for the ITU World Championship campaigns.•	
Approval of arrangements and athlete service contribution for all ITU World Championship campaigns for •	
endorsement by the Triathlon Australia board.
Input into the establishment of the Australian World Champion and National Champion insignia.•	
Discussion around engagement strategies for IRONMAN and IRONMAN 70.3 World Championship campaigns to •	
be implemented in 2013-2014.

During 2012, age group athletes represented Australia during team campaigns, achieveing the following results:

Campaign Number of 
Athletes

Gold Silver Bronze Total

ITU Long Distance Triathlon World Championships 
29 July 2012, Vitoria-Gasteiz

38 - 4 3 7

ITU Duathlon World Championships
22 September 2012, Nancy

20 - - 1 1

ITU Aquathlon, Sprint, Olympic and Paratriathlon 
World Championships
October 2012, Auckland

596 27 25 22 74

full age group team lists from each 2012 campaign can be found towards the end of this report.
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% Participation Growth

Target: 5% 

% increase of participants in junior programs

Target: 3% 

Participation growth has been measured based on event entry figures collected as part of the Triathlon Australia 
event sanctioning process for all santioned events in Australia across the 2012-2013 season. 

Year Event entry figure Growth
2011-2012 134,734
2012-2013 160, 580 19.2%

2012-2013 participant figures
TA TRYstars pilot programs 510
Active After-Schools Communities program 2,693
STTA Junior development programs

ACT 40
NSW 40
NT 25
QLD 58
SA 19
TAS 30
VIC 41
WA 500

Total 753

This figure can not be compared as a % to the 2011-2012 figure. 

Key Performance Indicators: Participation
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Triathlon Australia conducted a survey of 
current members, one day members and 
lapsed members to assess participation 
satisfaction ratings. 

Individuals were asked to state whether 
they had participated in either a training 
program, skills based program, seminar or 
educational program, coaching course or 
technical officials course over the pervious 
12 months.

If they had participated, they were asked to 
rate their satisfaction with the program as 
either:

Extremely satisfied •	
Satisifed •	
Neutral •	
Dissatisfied •	
Extremely dissatisfied•	

90%

88%

90%

77%

86%

Training program

Skills development program

Seminar or educational session

Coaching accreditation course

Technical official accreditation
course

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Satisfaction with Delivery 
(Top 2: Satisfied/Extremely Satisfied)

Program participant satisfaction rating

Target: 80% satisfaction

Participant Satisfaction rating: The results show that 4 
of the 5 participation programs received a satisfaction 
rating of over 80%, with coaching receiving a 77% 
satisfaction rating.

Rankings in ITU Age Group World Championships

Target: Top 3

Discipline Gold Silver Bronze Ranking
Sprint Distance 9 7 7 1
Olympic Distance 8 6 7 2
Paratriathlon 1 0 1 5
Long Distance 0 4 3 12
Duathlon 0 1 1 9

A top 3 ranking was achieved in two of the five ITU Age Group World Championship campaigns.
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Key Objective
“To grow membership by increasing the number of new members and retaining existing members”

Key Drivers

• A strong value proposition
• Awareness and communication
• A sense of community
• Access to quality clubs
• Quality training environments

Key Strategies

• Develop value propositions through market analysis and insights delivering tailored benefits to member
  categories
• Develop communication and web-based strategies to engage members
• Deliver education and leadership to ensure clubs provide a safe, friendly & quality participation experience to
  encourage membership

Key Performance Indicators

• Member growth rate %
• Member retention rate %
• Member satisfaction rating
• Conversion rate of participants (One day members) to annual membership

MEMBERSHIP
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MEMBERSHIP GROWTH
for the second year in a row, annual membership grew by 19% in 2012-2013 resulting in 14,152 members at the 
end of March 2013. This added to the 21% membership growth experienced in the previous year.  
 
This membership growth was achieved with an earlier cut off date of 31 March 2013 as a consequence of a special 
offer of extended membership for the first time. Under this offer, anyone joining triathlon for the first time from 
1 April was entitled to a full year of membership for 2013-2014 plus the remainder of the 2012-2013 year.  This 
approach enabled potential members to experience races at the end of the year with their membership then being 
valid for the full term of the following season.

TA acknowledges the contribution that all STTAs made to increasing the membership in their State or Territory.  In 
particular the significant effort applied by Triathlon NSW and Triathlon QLD in communicating and preparing clubs 
for the introduction of the new membership model for 2013-2014. The graph below indicates that Queensland 
experienced the highest membership growth of 36%, followed by South Australia on 35%. 

The significant increase in membership over the last two years has most likely been caused by a range of factors 
including:

The development and communication of an enhanced member benefits package.•	
The promotion of membership at participation level races and series.•	
Member only priority entry periods for Ironman, 70.3 and other popular races such as Noosa and Mooloolaba.•	
A cohesive National Calendar and age group qualifying events.•	
Better communication through e-newsletters, the website, media and social media chanels.•	

But most importantly, it’s about two words, it’s because we care about our members. We are listening to what 
they are telling us and delivering much better day to day member services at both the national and STTA level. 
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A STRONG VALUE PROPOSITION
In addition to receiving basic membership services, 
annual members of the sport have access to a member 
benefits package that has been developed to:

Reward those committed members by providing •	
access to services and offers that are reserved only 
for annual members of the sport, enhancing their 
experience as a triathlete; and 

Strengthen the perceived value of annual •	
membership therefore  encouraging more people to 
join the association.

The member benefits package includes the following:

Priority Entry Periods to major sell out events 
opening during the 2012-2013 membership season 
including:

2013 SunSmart IRONMAN 70.3 Busselton•	
2013 IRONMAN Cairns 70.3 2013•	
2013 IRONMAN 70.3 Sunshine Coast•	
2013 IRONMAN 70.3 Port Macquarie•	
2013 Noosa Triathlon •	
2013 IRONMAN 70.3 Mandurah•	
2013 IRONMAN Western Australia Busselton •	
2014 IRONMAN 70.3 Auckland•	
2014 Kellogg’s Nutri-Grain IRONMAN New Zealand•	
2014 IRONMAN® Asia-Pacific Championship •	
Melbourne
2014 IRONMAN Australia Port Macquarie•	
2014 IRONMAN Cairns •	

Discounted bike insurance packages with 
Bikesure - the Bicyle Insurance Specialists. Members 
are able to access a ‘quick quote’ facility via the 
Bikesure website providing up to 20% off premium bike 
insurance packages. 

$75 worth of SCODY vouchers for each member 
mailed within membership welcome packs. Vouchers 
must be spent online with SCODY as 3 x $25 discounts 
on purchases at any point during the membership year.

4 pairs of Oakley sunglasses per year at RRP 
less 40% for selected Triathlon Australia members

Triathlon Australia accredited Performance (L2) and •	
High Performance (L3) coaches
Triathlon Australia accredited Level 2, 3 and NTO •	
Technical Officials
Professional athletes•	

Reduced subscriptions to three major triathlon 
magazines and up to 25% off all online purchases 
from the Travel & Outdoor Book Centre stocking a 

large range of sports, recreation, adventure, travel and 
lifestyle books.

During the season, TA began work with Showsport, a 
travel management service provider. The relationship 
with Showsport was established to:

Look after all corporate travel requirements;•	

Work with TA to organise age group campaign •	
logistical and travel management; and 

Establish wider membership and partnership •	
benefits.

The partnership facilitated joint discussions between 
TA, Showsport, and Virgin Australia, laying the 
foundations for a new member benefit of bike inclusive 
airfare packages to be launched at the beginning of the 
2013-2014 year.
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MEMBER ENGAGEMENT
Over the course of the 2012-2013 season, Triathlon 
Australia delivered a member engagement strategy to 
support growth and retention by engaging with new 
members of the sport, one day members, and current 
members at a variety of events across the country.

Whilst many events were attended by TA/STTA 
representatives in previous years, this year a 
coordinated approach was taken whereby a 
representative from either TA or the STTA was 
present at an event in an official capacity, supported 
by additional pre, during and post event activities 
that would help to generate awareness and open 
communication channels with participants.

Over the season, 34 events run by four major 
race organisers were attended by a TA or STTA 
representative. These events included the:

Corporate Triathlon Series Super Sprint Events

Tri Pink Series The Event Crew

Weetbix Kids Tryathlon Series Sanitarium

IRONMAN, 70.3, and Olympic distance events 
USM Events/WTC

The events attended were those classed as “front door” 
events or where a large proportion of participants 
are either new to the sport or in possession of a one 
day membership. It is important to connect with 
these people in a positive way, acting as a face to the 
organisation and providing information about how they 
can continue participating in the sport via membership, 
clubs and local events.

The engagement strategies undertaken for each event 
included:

A dedicated TA/STTA information hub area as part •	
of the event expo or with a standalone tent manned 
at all times by a TA/STTA representative. The hub 
provided membership information flyers and tattoos 
and stickers for kids.

Event signage produced specifically to support the •	
Corporate Tri, Weetbix Kids Try and Pink Tri series 
supplied to the event organisers and displayed 
along each event course.

Adverts about membership placed in either the •	
event program or within participant race packs.

Post event emails sent by the race organisers to •	
participants including a customised message, TA 
branding and a link to the TA website.

The TA logo and link to website included on all •	

event entry websites.

The following observations were made during this 
engagement strategy:

A high volume of participants of the Weetbix and •	
Tri Pink series events sought information on future 
events, clubs in their area and training programs.

Participants of the Weetbix series actively sought •	
out “goodies” to take away from the event.

It was seen as a highly valuable investment to •	
have a strong presence at the Weetbix and Tri Pink 
events to promote the sport and its programs.

There was minimal opportunity for engagement •	
with participants at the Corporate series events and 
IRONMAN events within the ‘information hub’ area, 
therefore a different approach should be taken for 
these events in the future.

The level of information that STTA’s were able •	
to provide about clubs and local programs was 
invaluable.

The use of young ‘athlete ambassadors’ was •	
effective, especially at the Weetbix series events. 

Whilst it is difficult to measure definitively, it is 
believed that this strategy contributed to the overall 
19% membership growth over the 2012-2013 season. 
Putting a face to the organisation, talking to people on 
the ground and generating awareness and familiarity 
with the TA brand and logo were valuable outcomes of 
the strategy.

following this process, TA has developed its member 
engagement strategy for the 2013-2014 season 
building from the observations made and ensuring 
an efficient use of TA and STTA resources. STTA’s will 
continue to play a predominate role in attending events 
where there is a real demand for local information 
about clubs, events and participation opportunities, 
whilst TA will continue to ensure that opportunities exist 
with event organisers to deliver the strategy where 
possible.
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% Membership growth rate

Target: 5%

Year National 
Annual 
Membership

% growth

2010-2011 9755
2011-2012 11,865 21%
2012-2013 14,152 19%

Key Performance Indicators: Membership

ACT NSW NT QLD SA TAS VIC WA
Total 2010/2011 435 3,063 354 1,763 422 139 1,384 2,175
Total 2011/2012 444 3,894 442 2,261 438 220 1,487 2,679
Total 2012/2013 546 4,391 463 3,070 591 236 1,742 3,113
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Membership satisfaction rating

Target: 80%  

A Triathlon Australia survey of current members conducted in July 2013 found the following participation 
satisfaction ratings from the previous membership year:

Program Extremely 
Dissatisfied

Dissatisfied Neutral Satisfied 
(S)

Extremely 
Satisfied 
(ES)

% of S & ES

Training 0% 1% 9% 64% 27% 91%
Skill development 0% 2% 11% 52% 35% 87%
Seminar/education 1% 1% 6% 72% 19% 91%
Coaching course 1% 5% 18% 46% 29% 75%
TO course 1% 3% 10% 52% 34% 86%

The results show that over 80% satisfaction was achieved in 4 of the 5 areas assessed, with coaching courses 
receiving a 75% satisfaction rating.

% Membership retention rate

Target: 70%

2011-2012 New Renewing Total
ACT 73 373 444
NSW 1509 2391 3,894
NT 199 243 442
QLD 686 1585 2,261
SA 117 324 438
TAS 90 130 220
VIC 444 1051 1,487
WA 1134 1552 2,679
TOTAL 4252 7649 11,865

% of total membership 36% 64%
% of 2010-2011 membership 
(9755)

78%

2012-2013 New Renewing Total
ACT 223 327 546
NSW 1569 2831 4,391
NT 198 268 463
QLD 1358 1724 3,070
SA 229 363 591
TAS 76 161 236
VIC 630 1118 1,742
WA 1295 1819 3,113
TOTAL 5578 8611 14,152
% of total membership 39% 61%
% of 2011-2012 membership 
(11,865)

73%
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EVENTS

Key Objective
“To ensure that opportunities exist at all levels to compete in events of the highest quality through leadership and 

collaboration”

Key Drivers

• Experienced Race Directors, Technical Officials and volunteers
• Promotion and awareness
• A co-ordinated National Calendar
• Access to iconic locations/ facilities
• Provision of atmosphere/ enjoyment
• Quality event management & delivery
• A robust simple sanctioning process to ensure safe and fair events
• Events which are accessible for paratriathletes

Key Strategies

• Develop and coordinate a national calendar of events that is agreed and communicated in a timely manner
• Ensure the existence of high quality competition & event opportunities at all levels
• Deliver education programs to technical officials, volunteers and RDs to develop experienced operators, through
  establishing and ensuring quality standards
• Develop a promotional and marketing strategy to engage media, athletes & key stakeholders

Key Performance Indicators

• No. of applications received for National Championships
• % of interstate competitors at National Championships
• % increase in no. of entry spots at each discipline
• % increase in overall race entries
• % increase in no. of race participants
• % increase in no. of race participants doing more than one race
• Increase in no. of accredited Technical officials as % of membership
• % increase in no. of technical officials at each level
• % conversion of course participants to accredited Technical Officials.



Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

www.triathlon.org.au | 51

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

A COORDINARTED NATIONAL 
CALENDAR
Triathlon Australia provided Race Directors with the oppotunity to submit proposals to host National Calendar 
events in a new Expression of Interest (EOI) process. The aim of this process was to ensure that events 
designated as part of the National Calendar: 

a) provide a consistent and high quality experience for members.
b) are presented and promoted in a way which provides value to the relevant National Championship.

Race Directors (RDs) were invited to submit proposals to host events for a contract period of up to 3 years 
duration across the Qualifying Race category, as National Championships and to act as International races under 
either the International Triathlon Union or Oceania Triathlon Union guidelines. Race were considered for selection 
based upon their submission to a range of criteria including race history, location, date, size, facilities, and 
inclusive nature. 

Qualifying Races

Qualifying races were selected according to criteria nominated by the TA Age Group Committee that provided a 
framework to ensure the quality and consistency of selection opportunities throughout Australia. As per these 
guidelines the following principles were incorporated into the selection of these events:

a) Each race category will consist of no more than 8 races
b) There may be no more than 2 races in any one state
c) There may not be a ‘double points’ championship race and a second qualifying race in any one state
d) In the event of more than 8 races being nominated, preference will be given to the quality of submission and 
higher quality races.

National Championships

National Championships were selected to offer members the opportunity to compete for the National 
Championship title across the following disciplines:

Duathlon (Age Group and Elite)  Barossa Valley Duathlon, SA  6-7 October 2012
Aquathlon (Age Group)   Yarrawonga Multisport festival, VIC 20-21 October 2012
Long Distance (Age Group)   Murray Man Triathlon, SA  3-4 November 2012
Paratriathlon     National Paratriathlon Champs, NSW 11 January 2013 
Sprint Distance (Age Group)  Capital Summer fest, ACT  25-27 January 2013
Sprint and Long Distance (Elite/U23) Geelong Multisport festival, VIC 9-10 february 2013
Junior      Devonport Triathlon, TAS  23-24 february 2013 
Olympic Distance (Age Group)  Devonport Triathlon, TAS  23-24 february 
Corporate triathlon    Nissan Corporate Sydney, NSW  3 March 2013
Cross Triathlon (Age Group)   Tre-X Lake Crackenback, NSW  10 March 2013
Olympic Distance (Elite/U23)  Mooloolaba Triathlon festival, QLD 15-17 March 2013
Youth       Youth Triathlon Champs, QLD  18-19 March 2013

The EOI process undertaken in the 2012-2013 season was designed to develop both the value of TA National 
Championship and qualifying races and encourage healthy competition in their allocation to ensure a broad range 
of quality events are available to fulfil these roles.

Every effort was made to minimise any potential calendar clashes within the National Calendar races. Given the 
high volume of races throughout Australia and the pressures of local council requirements and competing events 
this was not always achieved. Where a conflict existed between races consideration was given to ensuring that no 
two competing races drew from the same geographical pool of athletes or drew from athletes over the same race 
distance.
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ENSURING THE EXISTENCE Of HIGH 
QUALITY COMPETITION
A winning bid for the 2015 ITU Duathlon World Championships
A combined bid from Triathlon Australia and Events South Australia with financial support from the Adelaide City 
Council was presented to the ITU Exective Board meeting in October 2012, resulting in winning the right to host 
the Duathlon World Championships in Adelaide in October 2015. The World Championships will be preceded by 
a test event in 2014 which will form both the Australian and Oceania Duathlon Championships. This is a great 
outcome for triathlon and multisport in South Australia. The announcement of the event has already generated 
significant momentum and increased funding into the sport from the SA Government.

The proposed course impressed the ITU delegates who travelled to Adelaide in April 2013 to review arrangements 
including the proposed venues and courses. The run and ride course will include the revamped precinct around 
Adelaide Oval, the Memorial Drive Tennis Centre and the banks of the Torrens River.  

The event will be managed on behalf of Triathlon Australia by Jenny Mann through her company PRO Results.  
Jenny previously managed the successful 2005 ITU Duathlon World Championships in Newcastle. A local organising 
committee chaired by Adelaide lawyer Tim White has been established to govern and oversee preparations for the 
event.  

THE TECHNICAL PROGRAM
The Triathlon Australia Technical program plays an integral part in supporting ‘safe, fun and fair’ triathlon events 
in Australia. As recognition of this service, TA maintains a list of Technical Officials (TOs) who have achieved 
continued active service of 5, 10, 15 and 20 years. The cumulative dedication these officials display to Triathlon in 
Australia is immense and worthy of suitable recognition.

Triathlon Australia invited all Officials with outstanding 15 and 20 years of continuous service to attend the 
‘Celebration of Champions’ dinner to be recognised for their achievements. 

Triathlon Australia would further like to offer sincere gratitude to the following officials who were recognised for 
their dedicated service to Triathlon in Australia.

20 Years
Melinda farr  Graeme Kruger Greg Lebeter
Ross McLennan Michael Sanderson

15 Years
Simon Andreou Anne Blatchford Mike Blatchford
Warwick Brennan Robert Cronk Stuart fuller
Pete Grundy frank Haworth Jacqui Kenny
Warren Millward Jane Seaborn John Singleton
John Smith Julie Tedde David Wilkinson
Michael Wise
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% increase in number of race participants

Target: 5%  

STTA 2011-2012 2012-2013 % change
ACT 6,204 5,025 -19%
NSW 30,659 38,128 24%
NT 578 519 -10%
QLD 38,325 49,935 30%
SA 6,749 6,843 1%
TAS 2,287 2,161 -6%
VIC 29,982 33,658 12%

WA 19,950 24,311 22%
TOTAL 134,734 160,580 19%

% increase in number of entry spots at each discipline

Target: 5%  

Discipline Member Non Member Total % increase
2011-2012 2012-2013 2011-2012 2012-2013 2011-2012 2012-2013

Entry level 
(“front door”)

545 2,194 27,877 30,560 28,422 31,855 12%

Novice 3,021 1,780 4,747 5,977 7,754 7,910 2%
Sprint 14,078 18,688 31,243 34,864 45,471 53,572 18%
Olympic 9,979 15,120 17,572 16,028 27,551 31,148 13%
Long course 5,095 6,475 6,453 11,781 11,548 18,256 58%
IRONMAN 2,796 4,314 4,403 3,266 7,199 7,580 5%
Cross tri 204 1,700 551 1,953 755 3,653 15%
Duathlon 1,479 780 1,712 850 3,191 1,690 8%
Aquathlon 615 399 738 1,314 1,573 1,713 126%
Other 423 448 903 2,762 1,351 3,210 73%
TOTAL 38,235 51,898 96,199 109,355 134,815 160,587 19%

% of interstate competitors at 2012-2013 National Championships

Target: 5%  

Event Interstate competitors Total competitors % of interstate competitors
Aquathlon 6 42 14%
Olympic distance 312 529 59%
Sprint distance 252 391 65%
Duathlon 21 180 12%
Paratriathlon 8 22 36%

Key Performance Indicators: Events
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Increase in number of accredited Technical Officials as % of membership

Target: 3%  

% increase in number of Technical Officials at each level

Target: 7%  

% conversion of course participants to accredited Technical Officials.

Target: 80%  

Conversion rate achieved: 78%

There was a 2% increase in accredited TOs across the country over the 2012-2013 season. However the growth in 
accredited TO’s represented a decline in the number of accredited TO’as as a percentage of membership due to the 
overall growth in membership from 2011-2012 to 2012-2013.

Despite the decline, the target of 3% was maintained.
 

Year Number of TO’s Membership TO’s as a % of membership
2011-2012 416 11,901 3.5%
2012-2013 430 14,189 3%

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NTO
7.5% increase 9% decrease 11% decrease 11% decrease 
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Key Objective
“Sustained international success through the provision of an effective and efficient athlete and coach pathway”

Key Drivers

• World class coaching
• Access to quality training facilities
• Quality domestic competition/ events
• Sports science and sports medicine support and delivery
• Access to international competition
• Quality program management 
• Integration of elite paratriathlon program

Key Strategies

• Provision of quality daily training environments
• Provision of quality domestic & international competition opportunities in line with elite athlete pathways
• Develop HP coaches and programs to underpin Elite/U23/Junior athlete development

Key Performance Indicators

• Medals at Olympic Games and Commonwealth Games
• Medals at ITU World Championships
• Medals at IRONMAN World Championships
• Number of athletes progressing through the Athlete Tier structure
• No. athletes in ITU top 75 and 150 Rankings
• No. of coaches with athletes in the Athlete Tier structure
• No. of coaches with athletes
• No. of coaches with athletes who achieve podium places at benchmark events

HIGH PERfORMANCE
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THE WINNING EDGE
In November 2012, the Australian Sports Commission announced Winning Edge as a new model for the structure 
and funding of high performance sport in Australia. John Wylie, the Chair of the ASC indicated that Australia’s 
Winning Edge target was to achieve the following outcomes:

from a structural perspective, from 2014 the Australian Institute of Sport are no longer conducting sport 
programs. The financial and other resources associated with AIS sport programs are to be transitioned to each 
individual sport to administer in the context of their high performance plan. With respect to funding, it was 
announced that sports had to win their funding through a comprehensive Winning Edge performance submission. 
The submission was required to provide compelling evidence to show how the sport would contribute to Australia’s 
Winning Edge targets with mandatory KPI’s.

Triathlon Australia prepared and submitted a Winning Edge paper in february 2013, resulting in an additional 
$300,000 of funding for 2013-2014, with $150,000 of this is for paratriathlon and the other $150,000 for the 
general HP program. Triathlon Australia has been confirmed as a Foundation Sport within the four tiered funding 
structure – this is the top level. Triathlon has been accorded this level on the basis that the sport has a history of 
success at benchmark events and have put in place underpinning programs to enable this tradition to continue. 
Australia’s women’s results were considered particularly worthy of recognition and the AIS review panel considered 
that the National Talent Academy and plans for National Performance centres will ensure Australia’s males are 
ready for good performances leading up to the 2020 Olympics.

The paratriathlon program has been designated as a Prospective Sport. This is the third highest tier, on the basis 
that this program has not had a chance to produce results as yet, but is likely to do so at the 2020 Paralympic 
Games in Rio de Janeiro. Subsequent to the announcement of Winning Edge funding, an additional $75,000 has 
been granted to Triathlon for the development of the Paratriathlon program, bringing our annual paratriathlon 
funding to $225,000.

The Ironman World Championships in Hawaii have been included in the National Winning Edge target of 20 
World Championships per year. This means that success at Kona by Australian athletes will reflect well on TA’s 
contribution to the national targets.

53 Australian sporting organisations were invited to submit Winning Edge bids. Given that the overall pool of 
high performance investment from the government was not any larger than last year, it was recognised that the 
additional funding was taken from the allocation to other sports.  



58 | www.triathlon.org.au

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

In essence:

Triathlon was one of 10 sports out of 53 to receive an increase.•	

The increase of 7.4% was the 8th highest increase for any sport.•	

TA currently receive the 13th highest funding for its HP program. The sports ahead of triathlon are either •	
multi-medal sports or team sports involving significantly more athletes.

In addition, $150,000 will be received from the “Paralympic sports” funding.  •	
 

11 Sports were advised of decreases in their funding – including several of the high profile, traditionally well •	
funded sports such as swimming, athletics, volleyball and football. Basketball and Hockey have received 
decreases in ongoing funding but have been granted some transitional funding to enable them to show 
increased performance during 2013-2014.

32 sports will stay on the same level of funding as they received for 2012-2013.•	
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OVERVIEW
The National Talent Academy (NTA) was established 
as a camps based program to provide a link between 
existing State Junior Development programs and the 
SIS/SAS and TAHP network. The NTA was designed to 
bridge the void between other system elements, a void 
which was clearly identified by the 2010-2011 High 
Performance review which stated: 

“Pre-elite development is the biggest void in the HP 
athlete pathway for Triathlon. It lacks support from 
every organisational partner (i.e. NSO, SSO, SIS/SAS, 
AIS). Without doubt, this needs to be driven by the 
NSO, with adequate resources devoted to integrating all 
stakeholder groups” 

The key deliverable of the NTA is to support talented 
athletes emerging from existing STTA junior 
development programs or via talent identification/talent 
transfer by: 

enhancing their daily training environment through •	
advice and mentoring to the NTA athletes home 
coach.
offering a camps-based program which will provide •	
specialist coaching and technical support.
offering national and international (subject to •	
selection) triathlon races opportunities.

NTA COACHES
Dan Atkins – National Talent Coach WA/SA•	
Keiran Barry – National Talent Coach NSW/ACT•	
Jan Rehula – National Talent Coach VIC/TAS•	
Craig Walton – National Talent Coach QLD/NT•	

*Chris Lang – National Talent Coach WA/SA (Resigned 
to take a coaching role with Sheldon College)

*Peter Robertson – National Talent Coach VIC/TAS 
(temporary while Jan Rehula filled VIS role)

ATHLETE TRANSITIONS 2013
*VIS Scholarship
**QAS Scholarship
***Transitioned Out of NTA

NTA ATHLETE PERfORMANCES
Throughout the year the National Talent Academy 
has been busy conducting numerous state, national 
and international camps and race tours for selected 
NTA athletes as well as identified potential future NTA 
athletes. 

Below is a snap shot of results so far by NTA athletes 
over the programs 18 months existence:

2 athletes selected into the VIS Triathlon program.•	
1 athlete selected into the QAS Triathlon program.•	
Won both male & female Australian Youth Olympic •	
festival Triathlon Gold Medals.
Won both male & female Australian Junior Triathlon •	
Championships.
Won the male Oceania Junior Triathlon •	
Championships.
Won both male & female Australian U23 Sprint •	
Distance Championships.
Won the elite female & 3rd elite male Australian •	
Sprint Distance Championships.
Won and/or podiums at numerous ITU Oceania Cup •	
Triathlons and Australian Junior Triathlon Events  
including ITU Mooloolaba Oceania Cup Triathlon & 
Asian Cup races.
Won ITU Holten European Cup Triathlon.•	
5 NTA athletes selected into 2013 AUS Junior World •	
Championship Team.
2 NTA athletes selected into 2013 AUS U23 World •	
Championship Team. 
1 NTA Athlete selected for a WTS start.•	

THE NATIONAL TALENT ACADEMY

Female Male
Sarah Deuble QLD*** Matt Baker NSW
Jaz Hedgeland WA Jacob Birtwhistle TAS
Bree Jones NSW*** Kenji Nener WA**
Grace Musgrove NSW
Talent Transfer, Athletics 

Joel Tobin-White VIC*

Natalia Smith TAS*** Marcel Walkington VIC*
Christian Wilson VIC

2012-2013 INTAKE
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NTA CAMPS and TOURS
The NTA has conducted 3 international development 
tours/trips over the past 18 months:

2012 – Japan & Tahiti•	
2013 – European Junior Tour•	

The NTA has conducted 4 National Camps:

2012 – Induction Camp – Sydney NSW (4 days)•	
2012 – NTA National Training camp – Gold Coast •	
QLD (7days)
2013 – AYOf Camp – Wollongong NSW (6-7 days)•	
2013 – NTA National Training Camp – Gold Coast •	
QLD (9 days)

The NTA has conducted over 45 state based NTA camps 
over various lengths & locations including: 

WA/SA: 9 State based NTA Camps (not including 
various single day training days or TEP days)

4 x 7-14 day camps, 3 x 3-6 day camps and 2 x 2 •	
days camps

qLD/NT: 7 State based camps (not including various 
weekly face to face sessions with NTA athletes in 
Brisbane & Gold Coast or DPE)

4 x 7-10 days and 3 x 2-5 days•	

NSW/ACT:  8 State based camps (not including 
various single day training days or DPE)

2 x 6-10 day camps and 6 x 3-5 day camps•	

vIC/TAS: 22 State based camps (not including various 
single day training days or DPE at AAMI Stadium)

6 x 5-12 Days and 16 x 2 days (super weekends)•	

SPONSORSHIP
The NTA program has also been successful in gaining 
sponsorship through Giant Bicycles Australia which 
allows athletes access to state of the art full carbon 
fibre racing bikes. The value in kind partnership by 
Giant Australia to Triathlon Australia and the NTA 
athletes is in excess of $65k.

NTA REVIEW
The NTA has also commenced a significant review 
to ensure the NTA and National Talent Coaches are 
effective in delivering the outcomes of the NTA and 
High Performance plan as well as to have input from all 
key stakeholders. feedback from the review has been 
received and is currently being assessed for further 
recommendations due towards end of 2013. 

Some of the key discussion points include:

Operating Budget vs. Staff/Program Costs.•	
Daily Performance Environments (DPE) vs. Camps •	
& Athlete Home Environments.
Talent identification, recruitment & development vs. •	
Talent Acceleration.
Geographical alignment of NTA programs.•	
Coach mentoring vs. coach development. •	
Role of Coach Education within NTA program.•	
What support should the NTA offer to athletes •	
that are already training within proven High 
Performance DPE. 
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4 X ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP GOLD

1 X IRONMAN WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP GOLD

1 X OLYMPIC BRONZE

2012 ELITE MEDAL PERfORMANCES

2012 LONDON  OLYMPIC GAMES 2012 LONG DISTANCE WORLD 
CHAMPIONSHIPS

2012 DUATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 2012 TRIATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS

2012 IRONMAN WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 2012 PARATRIATHLON WORLD 
CHAMPIONSHIPS 

ERIN DENSHAM CHRIS MCCORMACK

FELICITY SHEEDY-RYAN AARON ROYLE

PETE JACOBS BILL CHAFFEY (TRI 1)
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Medals at Olympics, Paralympics and Commonwealth Games

Target = 2 at Olympics, 3 at Commonwealth  Games

Achieved
1 Olympic Bronze medal - Elite Female (Erin Densham)

Medals at ITU World Championships

Target = 3 across 6 categories

Achieved
Gold ITU World Championship medal - Elite Male Long Distance (Chris McCormack)
Gold ITU World Championship medal - U23 Male Olympic Distance (Aaron Royle)
Gold ITU World Championship medal - Paratriathlon TRI-1 (Bill Chaffey)
Gold ITU World Championship medal - Elite Female Duathlon (Felicity Sheedy-Ryan)

Medals at IRONMAN World Championships

Target = 1 across 2 categories

Achieved
Gold IRONMAN World Championship medal - Elite Male (Pete Jacobs)

Key Performance Indicators: 
High Performance

Number of athletes in ITU top 75 and 150 ranking

Target = Top 75 = 15
  Top 150 = 30

Achieved

Top 75: 8 x males, 9 x females

Top 75 total = 17

Top 150: 11 x males, 14 x females

Top 150 total = 25
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BRAND

Key Objective
“To develop the brand of Triathlon so as to increase external investment in the sport”

Key Drivers

• A strong value proposition
• Development and delivery of quality brand and products
• Increased exposure and awareness
• Engagement with the community

Key Strategies

• Promote and create awareness in the sport of Triathlon to drive interest and community engagement through
  stories, consequences and rivalries
• Develop and deliver a National brand strategy to generate external revenue
• To consider Governments’ objectives and outcomes
• Develop, lead and coordinate the brand of Triathlon in Australia

Key Performance Indicators

• % of non-government revenue
• % increase of non-government revenue
• % increase of government funding
• Sponsor/partner satisfaction rating
• % increase of brand awareness
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AWARD AND RECOGNITION fRAMEWORK
An area of activity that has been passionately 
developed over the 2012-2013 season is the awards 
and recognition framework, largely driven and managed 
by the fantastic work of the Awards committee. The 
following initiatives within the awards and recognition 
framework over the 2012-2013 season have helped 
build towards two key brand drivers: development and 
delivery of quality brand and products, and increased 
exposure and awareness.

National Awards and Recognition 
Framework
This year the Awards Committee developed the 
Triathlon Australia National Awards and Recognition 
framework (TANARf). This is a comprehensive 
document that outlines the various award and 
recognition processes that Triathlon Australia will 
employ in order to reward and recognise those athletes 
and individuals that have recorded outstanding 
achievements or have made an outstanding 
contribution to the sport of triathlon in Australia at any 
level. 

Several of the awards already existed independently, 
and were managed by various different groups and 
awarded on an ad hoc basis. This document was 
developed to ensure that a consistent and fair process 
is employed when identifying those individuals 
worthy of award and recognition, and to ensure that 
the appropriate level of acknowledgement is given. 
The robust framework will not only add strength 
and integrity to the awards, but it will become a key 
asset for the sport that brings the core brand value of 
Achievement to life.

This document is mainly divided into two key facets; 
Award Categories and Recognition Categories, and 
outlines the eligibility, nomination, selection and 
announcement procedures for each category. The 
document is implemented, reviewed and maintained by 
the Awards Committee.

Award Categories
Hall of fame (existing)•	
Elite Athlete Awards (existing)•	

 Chris Hewitt Emerging Athlete Award
 Male Performance of the Year Award
 female Performance of the Year Award
 Athletes Athlete of the Year Award

John Ison Award for TA Technical Official of the Year •	
(existing)
Coaching Awards (new)•	
Service to the Sport award (new)•	
Life Membership award (existing)•	
President’s Special Recognition award (WIP)•	
Legend of the Sport Award (WIP)•	

Recognition Categories
Australian World Champions  •	
Australian National Champions•	
Olympic Games, Paralympic Games and •	
Commonwealth Games team representatives
Australian Representation at World Championship •	
Events
Technical Official Years of Service Recognition•	

Two new awards were added into the TANAfR: Service 
to the Sport Award and the Coaching Awards.

The Service to the Sport Award (SSA) was established 
to honour those individuals who have made a 
significant contribution to the sport, irrespective of 
duration, that has positively promoted multisports. The 
awards committee formed the nomination and selection 
panel for this award, with two well deserved inaugural 
winners being selected in 2013.

Inaugural SSA winners: David Hansen and Garth 
Prowd

The Coaching awards were established to recognise 
and honour Australian triathlon coaches who have 
demonstrated a commitment and dedication to 
coaching Australian triathletes, and who have 
helped Australian triathletes to achieve significant 
competition success at both the age group and the 
high performance level. Whilst categories for age 
group coach and high performance coach have been 
established, only the age group coach award was 
awarded in 2013.

In order to generate member engagement and 
awareness of the award, the nomination process was 
opened to individual members of the association who 
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were invited to submit a nomination online for an 
age group coach who they felt had demonstrated a 
commitment and dedication to coaching Australian 
triathletes, and who had helped Australian triathletes 
to achieve significant competition success at age group 
level.

134 votes were receieved in total. 

Each STTA collated and reviewed the votes and were 
asked to put forward one coach to be added to the 
shortlist. The Age Group Coach of the Year Award 
Selection Committee received the shortlisted nominees 
and made the final selection, which was endorsed by 
the Awards Committee, resulting in a worthy candidate 
being crowned the 2013 Age Group Coach of the Year.

STTA votes 
received

No. of 
coaches

Shortlisted coach

ACT - -

NSW 39 11 Matthew Dymond
NT - -
QLD 20 7 Trent Patten
SA 13 2 Leon Holme
TAS - -
VIC 42 8 Julie Tedde
WA 20 5 Ross Pedlow

 

Inaugural Age Group Coach of the Year winner: 
Matthew Dymond (NSW) Coogee Triathlon Club

Brand Development
World and National Champion Insignia

Special insignia have been developed to award to 
Australian World Champions and National Champions 
each season. They are designed to recognise the 
great performances and achievements of members, 
identifying those who have worked hard and committed 
to the sport on an annual basis. By encouraging 
‘champions’ to wear the insignia, they become active 
ambassadors of the brand and the sport of triathlon. 

The insignia were developed, and along with style 
and usage guidelines, were sent to all age group and 
elite champions throughout the year attached to a 
congratulatory letter from the President. Champions 
were encouraged to have the insignia printed onto 
their racing uniform and to use the insignia on their 
personal blogs and websites to recognise their great 
achievement in becoming a champion.

The insignia were developed as an extension of the 
TA logo but using a different colour scheme in order 
to be easily recognisable and stand out. The National 
Champion insignia has been created using the typically 
Australian Green & Gold colours given that this status 
would be achieved at an Australian domestic National 
Championship event. The World Champion insignia has 
been developed using a rainbow colour effect, in a way 
mirroring the ‘world championship stripes’ used by the 
UCI to represent international success.

The vision is for the insignia to be recognised Australia 
wide as a symbol of achievement, and for it to be worn  
by our elite and age group athletes with pride as they 
train and compete in various events generating wider 
exposure and awareness of the TA brand.
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Celebration of Champions Annual 
Awards Dinner
Sunday 17 March 2013

following two successful events in 2011 and 2012, 
Triathlon Australia once again hosted a night of 
celebration and awards in QLD following the Mooloolaba 
ITU World Cup, Continental Cup and age group race.

The evening was held at the Novotel Twin Waters 
surrounded by the lush tropical gardens of the resort. 
Upon arrival, guests were greeted with a drinks 
reception and canapés on the decking before moving 
into the main room to enjoy a 3 course meal while the 
award presentations proceeded on the main stage.

True to the ‘Celebration of Champions’ theme, 
Australia’s Olympic Bronze Medallist Erin Densham was 
present, along with current World Champions; Aaron 
Royle (Australian reigning 2012 U23 World Champion), 
Bill Chaffey (Australian reigning 2012 Paratriathlon TRI1 
World Champion), and felicity Sheedy-Ryan (Australian 
reigning 2012 Duathlon World Champion). Pete Jacobs 
(Australian reigning 2012 IRONMAN World Champion) 
and Chris McCormack (Australian reigning 2012 Long 
Distance World Champion) were unfortunately unable 
to attend, however Pete Jacobs sent a video message 
of thanks. 

Guests were able to hear from Erin Densham, who 
brought along her Olympic Medal, and each Elite World 
Champion during an interview on the stage. Each 
athlete was presented with a commemorative plaque 
from the President of Triathlon Australia, David ferrier.

Other proceedings of the evening included recognition 
of 2012 Olympic Performances and 2013 Australian 
Youth Olympic festival Performances; presentation of 
2012-2013 Elite and Age Group National Champions; 
presentation of 2012 Elite and Age Group World 
Champions, and recognition of the Technical Honour 
Roll.

A summary of the award categories, nominees and 
winners can be found on the following page.

The highlight of the evening was welcoming Brad Beven 
into the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame. Brad joined six 
of triathlon’s legends; Emma Carney, Jackie fairweather 
(nee Gallagher), Loretta Harrop, Michellie Jones, Miles 
Stewart and Greg Welch in a select group of Australia’s 
all-time greats in the Triathlon Australia Hall of fame.

TA would like to thank Bieksure as the Major Sponsor of 
the evening, guests from affiliated triathlon clubs, and 
members who attended the event for their support.
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AWARDS

The John Ison award for Technical Official 
of the Year 

Nominees
Suzie Bower (TAS)
Eddy Girvan (WA)
Jon Treload (VIC)

Winner
 Jon Treloar (VIC)

Service to the Sport Award 
Inaugural winners: David Hansen and Garth Prowd

The Age Group Coach of the Year award 

Nominees
Matthew Dymond (NSW)
Leon Holme (SA)
Trent Patten (QLD)
Ross Pedlow (WA)
Julie Tedde (VIC)

Inaugural winner
Matthew Dymond (NSW)

Life Membership
Presented to Brian Hinton and Ken Bonham

Elite Athlete Awards 

Chris Hewitt Emerging athlete award 
Nominees
Ryan fisher
James Hodge
Aaron Royle 
Natalie Van Coevorden

Winner
Aaron Royle

Athletes athlete of the year award 

Winner
Erin Densham 

female performance of the year award
Nominees
Mirinda Carfrae
Erin Densham
Ashleigh Gentle
felicity Sheedy-Ryan

Winner
Erin Densham

Male performance of the year award 
Nominees
Craig Alexander
Bill Chaffey
Pete Jacobs
Chris McCormack
Aaron Royle   Winner: Pete Jacobs
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A NATIONAL BRAND STRATEGY

At the beginning of the year, TA held a valuable yet 
moderate position with several small-medium scale 
partnership and sponsorship arrangements, each 
contributing to sport in different ways. However it 
was acknowledged that in order to achieve the key 
brand objective of ‘developing the brand of triathlon to 
increase external investment in the sport’ there were 
necessary steps to take. These steps included:

Developing a communication strategy that would •	
increase the profile of triathlon as a participation 
and spectator sport in Australia.
Increasing public awareness of the sport through •	
public relations and mass media, therefore creating 
a broader audience and following.
Both of these in turn would strengthen the ability •	
to attract larger scale sponsorship and partnership 
arrangements enabling the sport to commercialise.

A significant amount of funding was received through 
involvement with a government campaign delivered by 
the Australian National Preventative Health Association 
(ANPHA) enabling TA to seek outside professional 
assistance in developing these strategies.

In December 2012, the TA Communications Committee 
devised a request for professional service proposals 
which was made public in January 2013. 16 proposals 
were received addressing either all or part of the RPf 
requirements. A review panel comprised of Cassandra 
Erbs (Chair of the Communication Committee and 
Board member), Ben Houston (Board member), Anne 
Gripper (CEO) and Kate Gallop (National Manager, 
Communication and Projects) was established to 
evaluate, shortlist and interview suppliers, and put a 
recommendation to the Board for engagement with a 
preferred supplier.

The result of this process has been the engagement 
of P4 Group – a Brisbane based marketing and 
communications agency that specialise in sponsorship 
and licencing, media and PR, and corporate 
communications. Triathlon Australia have entered 
into a 24 month agreement with P4 whereby they will 
deliver a fully integrated communication, sponsorship 
and media relations strategy that will provide long 
term benefits across the whole of sport and help TA to 
achieve its vision and desired outcomes.

As of June 2013, P4 had completed their information 
gathering process and desk research, conducted 
employee and STTA workshops including a 101 
Sponsorship education session, and prepared a 
membership survey and a general population survey. 
P4 will continue to conduct a Board workshop, carry 
out the surveys and then use all of the information 
gathered to generate a whole of sport communication 
and media strategy, followed by a sponsorship strategy.

Whilst many of the outcomes of this work will be visible 
over the next 12-24 months, the engagement of P4 
is a significant step towards achieving the brand KPI’s 
of increased non-government revenue and funding, 
and increased brand awareness. We are confident that 
during the 2013-2014 period substantial progression 
will be made in this area and look forward to reporting 
on these achievements in the next annual report.
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Key Performance Indicators: Brand

% of non-government revenue

Target = >30%

Year %
2011-2012 45%
2012-2013 43%

% increase of non-government revenue

Target = 5%

Year %
2011-2012 8%
2012-2013 9%

% increase of government funding

Target = 3%

Year %
2011-2012 0%
2012-2013 19%
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% increase of brand awareness

Target = 60%

Whilst the % increase in brand awareness can not be difinitively measured against the previous year at this stage, 
some interesting observations can be made from the results of an externally administered general population 
survey conducted on behalf of Triathlon Australia. 

Awareness of Triathlon

58% of respondants have watched a triathlon with the majority of respondants having watched triathlon on TV 
(54%), and fewer having watched a triathlon event as a spectator (9%). This result can be further broken down 
into gender and age categories:

67% of males have watched a triathlon
50% of females have watched a triathlon

18-29 yrs - 49% have watched a triathlon
30-39 yrs - 51% have watched a triathlon
40-49 yrs - 64% have watched a triathlon
50-64 yrs - 59% have watched a triathlon
65+ yrs - 70% have watched a triathlon

Of the 58% who have watched a triathlon, 63% watched an Olympic Games event and 53% have watched an 
IRONMAN triathlon event.

The results show that 57% of respondants did not know what triathlon distances are available to participate in. 
Here is a summary of the awareness of various distances of triathlon.

23% were aware of the Olympic distance•	
22% were aware of the sprint distance•	
19% were aware of the enticer/novice distance•	
13% were aware of the IRONMAN distance•	
10% were aware of the 70.3 distance•	

Perception of Triathlon

Participating in a triathlon
When asked to give three words or phrases that come to mind when thinking about participating in a triathlon, the 
strongest theme to come through was a need to be FIT, ATHLETIC and STRONG.

The second stongest theme to come through was HARD, DIFFICULT and TOUGH.

Triathletes
When asked to give three words or phrases that come to mind when thinking about triathletes, the strongest 
theme to come through was a need to be FIT, ATHLETIC and STRONG.

The second stongest theme to come through was a need to be DEDICATED, COMMITTED and MOTIVATED.

When asked ‘Which of the following do you think you need to participate in triathlon?’, here were the common 
themes expressed:

High level of fitness 90%•	
Endurance 83%•	
Time to train 80%•	
Discipline 80%•	
Be good at swimming, running and cycling 75%•	
A healthy diet 74%•	
Ability to train or compete as an individual 67%•	
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OLYMPIC GAMES REPRESENTATIvES

Courtney Atkinson 2012 Erin Densham (B)

Brad Kahlefeldt Emma Jackson
Brendan Sexton Emma Moffatt

Courtney Atkinson 2008 Emma Snowsill (G)

Brad Kahlefeldt Emma Moffatt (S)
Erin Densham

Greg Bennett 2004 Loretta Harrop (S)

Simon Thompson Rina Hill
Peter Robertson Maxine Seear

Miles Stewart 2000 Michellie Jones (S)

Craig Walton Nicole Hackett
Peter Robertson Loretta Harrop

COMMONWEALTH GAMES REPRESENTATIvES

Brad Kahlefeldt (G) 2006 Emma Snowsill (G)

Peter Robertson (B) Annabel Luxford
Simon Thompson felicity Abram

Miles Stewart (S) 2002 Nicole Hackett (B)

Chris McCormack Michellie Jones
Peter Robertson Loretta Harrop

1990 Australian Commonwealth Games Demonstration Triathlon Team

Brad Beven Greg Welch Troy fidler
Simon Skillicorn Matt Koorey Chipmunk frazer
Shane Johnson Anthony Mckeon Stephen foster
Gerard Donnelly Tony Unicomb Mick Maroney

Liz Hepple Michellie Jones Louise Bonham
Sue Turner Loretta Garrett Deanna Blegg

Bianca Van Woesik Erica Wilkinson Melinda Mentha
Carol Pickard Maureen Cummings fiona Wood

HONOUR BOARD
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AUSTRALIAN ELITE WORLD CHAMPIONS
ITU TRIATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONS

1990 Greg Welch

1991 Miles Stewart
1992 Michellie Jones
1993 Michellie Jones
1994 Emma Carney & Ben Bright (Jnr) and Clare Carey (Jnr)
1995 Chris Hill (Jnr)
1996 Jackie Gallagher & Joanne King (Jnr)
1997 Emma Carney & Chris McCormack & Nicole Hackett (Jnr)
1998 Joanne King & Nicole Hackett (Jnr)
1999 Loretta Harrop & Courtney Atkinson (Jnr)
2000 Nicole Hackett
2001 Peter Robertson
2002 Brad Kahlefeldt (U23)
2003 Emma Snowsill & Peter Robertson & Nikki Egyed (U23) & felicity Abram (Jnr)
2004 Annabel Luxford (U23)
2005 Emma Snowsill & Peter Robertson
2006 Emma Snowsill & Erin Densham (U23)
2009 Emma Moffatt
2010 Emma Moffatt & Emma Jackson (U23) & Ashleigh Gentle (Jnr)
2012 Aaron Royle (U23)

ITU PARATRIATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONS
2009 Bill Chaffey (TRI 1)

2011 Bill Chaffey (TRI 1)
2012 Bill Chaffey (TRI 1)

ITU DUATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONS ITU AQUATHLON WORLD CHAMPIONS
1992 Jenny Alcorn 1998 Rina Hill

1993 Greg Welch 1999 Rina Hill
1996 Andrew Noble and Jackie Gallagher
1997 Jonathan Hall ITU LONG DISTANCE WORLD CHAMPIONS
1999 Jackie Gallagher 1996 Greg Welch
2006 Leon Griffin 1998 Rina Hill
2012 felicity Sheedy-Ryan 2012 Chris McCormack

IRONMAN WORLD CHAMPIONS IRONMAN 70.3 WORLD CHAMPIONS
Greg Welch 1994

Michellie Jones 2006 Craig Alexander
Chris McCormack 2007 Mirinda Carfrae
Craig Alexander 2008
Craig Alexander 2009

Chris McCormack & Mirinda Carfrae 2010
Craig Alexander 2011 Craig Alexander & Melissa Rollison

Pete Jacobs 2012
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JOHN ISON AWARD WINNERS

2013
Jonathan Treloar (VIC) 

2009
Jacqui Kenny (QLD)

2008
frank Stapleton (WA) & David Wilkinson (SA) 

2007

Murray Hilder (NSW)

SERvICE TO THE SPORT AWARD WINNERS

2013
David Hansen & Garth Prowd

COACHING AWARD WINNERS

2013
Age Group Coach of the Year

Matthew Dymond NSW
Coogee Triathlon Club

TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA LIFE MEMBERS

Ken Bonham Dr Jim Hazel Brian Hinton

TRIATHLON AUSTRALIA 
HALL OF FAME INDUCTEES

2013
Brad Beven

2012
Emma Carney Jackie fairweather 

(nee Gallagher)
Loretta Harrop

2009
Michellie Jones Miles Stewart Greg Welch
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2012-2013 AUSTRALIAN
WORLD CHAMPIONS

OLYMPIC DISTANCE
ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 
AUCKLAND 2012

SPRINT DISTANCE
ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 
AUCKLAND 2012

Aaron Royle, U23 Male Nathan Miller, 25-29 Male
Grant Melzer, 18-19 Male Penelope Hosken, 25-29 female
Jenna fulton, 18-19 female Michael Prince, 30-34 Male
Andrea Oracki, 25-29 female Christelle Van Niekerk, 35-39 female
Melinda Cockshutt, 35-39 female Darren Carnell, 40-44 Male
Jeff Collier, 50-54 Male Jennifer Strack, 50-54 female
Brian Kennelly, 60-64 Male Kevin Goodwin, 55-59 Male
Julie Kerr, 60-64 female Ken Murley, 65-69 Male
Keith Pearce, 75-79 Male John Bennetts, 75-79 Male

PARATRIATHLON
ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 
AUCKLAND 2012

LONG DISTANCE
ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS
SPAIN 2012

Bill Chaffey TRI 1 Chris McCormack, Elite Male

DUATHLON
ITU WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS
fRANCE 2012

IRONMAN WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS
KONA HAWAII, OCTOBER 2012

felicity Sheedy-Ryan, Elite female Pete Jacobs, Elite Male
Matt Burton, 18-24 Male
June Ward, 50-54 female
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2012-2013 AUSTRALIAN
NATIONAL CHAMPIONS

National Sprint Distance Championships
National Olympic Distance Championships

National Long Distance Championships
National Duathlon Championships
National Aquathlon Championships

National Cross Triatlon Championships
National Paratriathlon Championships

National ITU Junior Triathlon Championships
National Youth Triathlon Championships
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SPRINT DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
CANBERRA JANUARY 2013 AND GEELONG 
fEBRUARY 2013

OLYMPIC DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS 
DEVONPORT fEBRUARY 2013 AND 
MOOLOOLABA MARCH 2013

Male Female Male Female
Peter Kerr Grace Musgrove Elite Peter Kerr Emma Moffatt
Jacob Birtwhistle Grace Musgrove U23 Ryan Bailie Grace Musgrove

Junior
Open

John Ashleigh Edwina Hobson 14-15 Joshua Manning
Liam Rapley Elyse foster 16-19 Grant Melzer Emily Cust
Shane farrant Steph Auston 20-24 Nathan Barry Lyndal Dew
Rob Skillman Rhiannon Snipe 25-29 Robert Skillman Kate Pedley
Ben Wright Christina Ladyman 30-34 Brad Beer Kate Warren
Stephane Vander Brug-
gen

Jodie Barker 35-39 Craig O’Connell Rosie McGeoch

Drew Westbrook Julie Gollan-foard 40-44 Andrew O’Brien Catherine Chatterton
Mick Maroney Marion Hermitage 45-49 Stephen foster Tracy foyster
francis Mahony Donna Hickey 50-54 Jeff Collier frances Quane
Kevin Goodwin Eleanor Dally 55-59 Geoffrey Taylor Janette Lindores
Michael O’Keeffe Angela Murray 60-64 Philip Hanley Penny Hearn
Ray Hunt Janice Iredale 65-69 Ray Hunt
Peter Dwyer Caroline Campbell 70-74
John Bennetts 75-79

LONG DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
MURRAY MAN NOVEMBER 2012 AND 
GEELONG fEBRUARY 2013

DUATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
BAROSSA VALLEY OCTOBER 2012

Male Female Male Female

Chris Kemp Melissa Hauschildt Elite Matty White

Matty White Holly Ranson Open Adam Spratt

16-17 John Martinez

18-19 William Carman Emma Jeffcoat

Jamie Edwards 20-24 Tim Lang Millie Allcroft

James Swift 25-29 Adriano Pavia Andreanna Humphrey

Derek Cross Rebecca O’Loughlin 30-34 Mark Zanker Sophie Williams

Stephane Vander Brug-
gen 

Jackie Crofton 35-39 Darren Bosanko

Dean Picken Kerrie Gentle 40-44 Brett Crosby Bronwyn Morris

Michael Hogben Mandy Towler 45-49 Grant Gilbert Ruth Strout

Stephen Oliver Daryl Lynn Talbot 50-54 francis Mahony Christine Pauling

Michael Tagell Corinne fabian 55-59 Peter Taylor

Darryl Tozer 60-64 Witold Krajewski

Trevor Skewes 65-69



Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

www.triathlon.org.au | 83

Triathlon Australia Annual Report 2012-2013

AQUATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
YARRAWONGA OCTOBER 2012

CORSS TRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
CRACKENBACK MARCH 2013

Male Female Male Female
Open Daniel Neilson Connie Silvestri

Nick McGuire Elle Stevens 15-19
Peter Kerr Chloe Butt 20-24
Michael Harvey 25-29 Josh Roy
Troy Watson Tarryn Whitmore 30-34 Nik Howe Heidi Poole
Steven Gatt Natalie Sheffield 35-39 Chris Hansson Kelly Linaker
Archer Talbot Julie Gollan-foard 40-44 Gary Rolfe Catherine Ballantyne
Andrew McLean Paula Elliot 45-49 Ian Andrews Megan Cahill
Kevin Mahady Elizabeth Gosper 50-54 fabrizio Andreoni

Anthony Burke 55-59
Brian Ibrihim 60+ Andrena Moore

PARATRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
PENRITH JANUARY 2013

Male Female

TRI 1 Bill Chaffey Louise Sauvage

TRI 2 Michael Milton
TRI 3 Debbie Wendt
TRI 4 Dale Grant Claire McLean
TRI 5 Justin Godfrey
TRI 6 Jonathan Goerlach (Guide: frazer Dowling) Lindy Hou (Guide: Rae Wells)

ITU JUNIOR CHAMPIONSHIPS
DEVONPORT  fEBRUARY 2013
Male Female
Jacob Birtwhistle Jaz Hedgeland

ITU JUNIOR SERIES CHAMPIONS
Male Female
Jacob Birtwhistle Jaz Hedgeland

ITU YOUTH SERIES CHAMPIONS
Male Female
Matthew Hauser Jessica Corliss
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AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR TRIATHLON 
HONOUR ROLL

AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR TRIATHLON SERIES POINT SCORE
Male Female

Sam Betten (QLD) 2007 Ashleigh Gentle (QLD)
Joshua Amberger (QLD) 2008 Ashleigh Gentle (QLD)

Jamie Huggett (VIC) 2009 Emma Jackson (QLD)
Drew Viles (QLD) 2010 Holly Aitken (VIC)

Scott Llewellyn (NSW) 2011 Ellie Salthouse (QLD)
Marcel Walkington (VIC) 2012 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

Jacob Birtwhistle (TAS) 2013 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

AUSTRALIAN JUNIOR TRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
Male Female

Sam Betten (QLD) 2007 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)
Jamie Huggett (VIC) 2008 Tamsyn Moana-Veale (NSW)
Sam Appleton (NSW) 2009 Holly Aitken (VIC)

Ryan fisher (QLD) 2010 Emma Jackson (QLD)
Scott Llewellyn (NSW) 2011 Ashleigh Gentle (QLD)

Marcel Walkington (VIC) 2012 Courtney Dutton (QLD)
Jacob Birtwhistle (TAS) 2013 Jaz Hedgeland (WA)

OTU OCEANIA JUNIOR TRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
Male Female

Sam Betten (QLD) 2007 Mikayla Nielsen (NZL)
Jamie Huggett (VIC) 2008 Mikayla Nielsen (NZL)
Jos Hoetjes (NZL) 2009 Holly Aitken (VIC)

Michael Gosman (ACT) 2010 Courtney Dutton (QLD)
Matt Brown (QLD) 2011 Ashleigh Gentle (QLD)

Marcel Walkington (VIC) 2012 Courtney Dutton (QLD)
Jacob Birtwhistle (TAS) 2013 Mikayla Nielsen (NZL)

ANNUAL TRANS-TASMAN TRIATHLON CHALLENGE (AUS vS NZL)
Male Team Female Team

NSW 2004 NSW

NSW 2005 NSW
NZL 2006 QLD
QLD 2007 QLD
NSW 2008 VIC
NSW 2009 VIC
NZL 2010 NZL
QLD 2011 NZL
VIC 2012 NZL

VIC/TAS 2013 NZL
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2012 ITU
WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP 

AGE GROUP TEAMS
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WORLD DUATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
NANCY, fRANCE SEPTEMBER 2012

WORLD LONG DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
VITORIA-GASTEIZ, SPAIN JULY 2012
Female

Melissa Clark 20-24 Michael Hill 30-34
Clair Rockliff 20-24 Lee Lindsay 30-34
Caitlin Bridgland 25-29 (S) Alexander Price 30-34 (B)
Karen Brown 30-34 Alexander Thorpe 30-34
Melanie Gillespie 30-34 Richard Berger 35-39
Rochelle Youngson 30-34 Scott Coey 40-44
Cyrma Hearn 35-39 Greg Coombes 40-44
Shaye Hatty 40-44 James Rosborough 40-44
Anne-Louise McLean 40-44 Adam Sydenham 40-44
Debra Kempe 50-54 (B) Lee Taylor 40-44
Karla McKinlay 65-69 Michael Taylor 40-44

Greg Walker 40-44
Male Matthew Wolstencroft 40-44
Ryan Waddington 20-24 (S) Clint Bain 45-49
Ken Enright 25-29 John Auriac 50-54
Ross McConnell 25-29 Warren Emery 50-54

Daniel Van der Vlist 25-29 Mark Norman 50-54
Hayden Armstrong 30-34 (S) Stephen Oliver 50-54
Jarrod Draper 30-34 Ken Raupach 50-54
Stephen Goat 30-34 Ross Cochrane 55-59
Jeremy Hill 30-34 Russell O'Malley 55-59 (B)

Female

Amy Callow 30-34 Johan Mulder 40-44
Danielle Jolly 35-39 Johnny Papas 40-44
Helen Stark 40-44 Greg Baxter 45-49
Louise Ibbotson 50-54 Mark Partridge 45-49
Caroline Campbell 70-74 (B) Stuart Blair 45-49

Darrell Giles 50-54
Male Mark Dawson 55-59
Ben fahy 30-34 Eric Coull 60-64
Jade frankel 30-34 Bob Harlow 65-69
Paul Jamison 30-34 David Wells 65-69
Trent Dawson 30-34 John Taylor 65-69
Adam Simon 35-39 Lachlan Lewis 75-79
Denis Perry 35-39 Radovan Leovic 80-84
Dean Degan 40-44
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WORLD OLYMPIC DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
AUCKLAND, NZL OCTOBER 2012

Female

Jenna fulton 18-19 (G) Rachael Hamblin 30-34 Catherine West 40-44
Gina Theron 18-19 (B) Tineke Hancey 30-34 Tracey Zammit 40-44
Kelsey Barker 20-24 Alicea Heffernan 30-34 Kerry Bailie 45-49
Kristy Bell 20-24 Lee-Anne Hellberg 30-34 Vicki Blood 45-49
Elyza Codner 20-24 Belinda Johnson 30-34 fiona Ellis 45-49
Emma Coman-Jeffries 20-24 Olivia Latimer 30-34 Lisa frost 45-49
Millicent Coote 20-24 Cassandra Percival 30-34 Jacki Hagger 45-49
Grace Deveson 20-24 Elizabeth Rogers 30-34 Skye Howie 45-49
Lyndal Dew 20-24 Melanie Thomas 30-34 Tina McEvoy 45-49
Emily Donker 20-24 Kerry Wilson 30-34 Jillian McKenzie 45-49
Carla Doyle 20-24 Zoe Wilson 30-34 Christine Moore 45-49
Courtney Dutton 20-24 Natalie Wong 30-34 Jacinta O'Connor 45-49
Ella Holmes 20-24 Rochelle Youngson 30-34 Michelle O'Toole 45-49
Claire Huygens 20-24 Sam Beh 35-39 Shelley Scholten 45-49
Annelise Jefferies 20-24 Virginie Bernard 35-39 Narelle Talbot 45-49
Alice Manchon 20-24 francesca Boase 35-39 Gayle Young 45-49

Rebecca Nunn 20-24 Melinda Cockshutt 35-39 (G) Christine Zygadlo 45-49
Natasha Paffett 20-24 Stephanie Condon 35-39 Elizabeth Thomas 45-49
Julia Turner 20-24 Lynn Davies 35-39 Barb Beard 50-54
Kristen Walker 20-24 felicity Deane 35-39 Catriona Cater 50-54
Clare White 20-24 Zoe ferguson 35-39 Angela Davie 50-54
Esther Barker 25-29 Janet ferguson 35-39 (B) Trudy fenton 50-54
Stephanie Bodak 25-29 Jessica fleming 35-39 Jenny Gilbert 50-54
Gabrielle Brown 25-29 Lotte franks 35-39 Lorna Hepburn 50-54
Penny Brown 25-29 Yasmin Grigaliunas 35-39 Stephanie Johnston 50-54
Katy Duffield 25-29 Cyrma Hearn 35-39 Katherine Marchant 50-54
Elizabeth Gordon 25-29 Sarah Perkins 35-39 Robyn Metcher 50-54
Katherine Hancock 25-29 Karen Reimann 35-39 Susan Murray 50-54
Erin Heard 25-29 Natalie Sheffield 35-39 Krissa O'Neil 50-54
Eliza Kwan 25-29 Linda Solly 35-39 Julianne Quaine 50-54
Eleisha Lilley 25-29 Susanna Webber 35-39 frances Quane 50-54
Joanna Lilley 25-29 Clare Webber 35-39 Genelle Warne 50-54
Kate Lister 25-29 Robyn Winn 35-39 Sarah Webb 50-54
Briarna Mackie 25-29 Sarah Brazenor 40-44 Bernadette Berlyn 50-54
Luana Main 25-29 fleur Dennis 40-44 Janice Avery-Spoor 55-59
Patricia McKibbin 25-29 Sarah fitzGerald 40-44 Andree Carr 55-59
Andrea Oracki 25-29 (G) Kate Gibney 40-44 Joanne Cowan 55-59
Kate Robertson 25-29 Julie Howle 40-44 Kim Elvery 55-59
Jodie Spottiswood 25-29 Nicola Hutchinson 40-44 Jane Givney 55-59
Skye Whitcher 25-29 Nicole Jones 40-44 Elizabeth Hammond 55-59
Alissa Williams 25-29 Rhonda McSweeney 40-44 Linda Meredith 55-59
Rebecca Barnard 30-34 Kylie Mildren 40-44 Susan Nicholson 55-59
Sarah Bone 30-34 Georgia Rhodes 40-44 Rae Wells 55-59
Jennifer Collier 30-34 Katherine Ryan 40-44 Margot De Gannes 60-64
Sarah Dick 30-34 Coreena Simmonds 40-44 Catharina Hamilton 60-64
Emma-Lise Donati 30-34 Heidi Sowerby 40-44 Julie Kerr 60-64 (G)
Lauren Elliott 30-34 Lyndell Van de Walle 40-44 Christine Walker 60-64
Kate Grattan 30-34 (S) Janelle Ware 40-44 Valma Lambert 70-74
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Male

Shannon Cox 18-19 Peter Court 30-34 Darren Westbrook 40-44
Cameron Goodison 18-19 (S) Peter Dawson 30-34 Matthew Wolstencroft 40-44
Michael Hooper 18-19 Stuart Denton 30-34 Steven Brasch 45-49 (B)
Emmett Karstrom 18-19 Mark Duncan 30-34 Nicholas Croft 45-49
Lachlan Kerin 18-19 Timothy Gado 30-34 Karl De Klerk 45-49
Jared Klein 18-19 Troy Grimshaw 30-34 Peter foster 45-49
Grant Melzer 18-19 (G) Stephen Hadley 30-34 Craig Johnson 45-49
Thomas Miller 18-19 Luke Johnston 30-34 Keith Jones 45-49
Sam Tebeck 18-19 Guy Jones 30-34 David Kelly 45-49
Benjamin Tripodi 18-19 Peter Loveridge 30-34 Kenneth Kirk 45-49
Nathan Barry 20-24 (S) Christophe Manchon 30-34 Simon Leeper 45-49
Lucas Brennan 20-24 Peter Mauro 30-34 Dean Mcmaster 45-49
Justin Brennan 20-24 Nathan Mercurio 30-34 Philip Murrell 45-49
Chris Brennan 20-24 Emir Mujcinovic 30-34 David Phelan 45-49
William Cannon 20-24 Sean Smee 30-34 Adam Rowland 45-49
Jacob Darlison 20-24 Alexander Thorpe 30-34 Graeme Sutton 45-49

Edward Dawson 20-24 Adam Cashmore 35-39 Bradley Teys 45-49
Andrew Elshaw 20-24 Anthony Elder 35-39 Dominic Toole 45-49
Geordie fyfe 20-24 Troy Drinan 35-39 Peter Walker 45-49 (S)
Andrew Haymet 20-24 Andrew fuller 35-39 (B) David Witham 45-49
Joshua Hilliard 20-24 Andrew Garnsworthy 35-39 Michael Anderson 50-54
Timothy Lang 20-24 Tim Guille 35-39 Timothy Bentley 50-54
Mitch Lewis 20-24 Darren Lockhart 35-39 Jeff Collier 50-54 (G)
Scott Mcpherson 20-24 Casey Mainsbridge 35-39 Craig Deane 50-54
Jamie Meyer 20-24 Ryann Mills 35-39 Chris Dimos 50-54
Blake Nielsen 20-24 Ilyas Musker 35-39 Murray fry 50-54
Julian Oey 20-24 Simon Nash 35-39 Peter Goldie 50-54
Tom Rodgers 20-24 Daniel Scanlan 35-39 Lance Hughes 50-54
Nathan Walsh 20-24 Timothy Schroeder 35-39 francis Mahony 50-54
Chris Bierton 25-29 Jamie Simmonds 35-39 Mark Martin 50-54
Robert Buckley 25-29 Michael Taylor 35-39 Michael McCormick 50-54
Joshua Dew 25-29 Chris Weier 35-39 Terence Moore 50-54
Chris George 25-29 David Yates 35-39 Chris Penfold 50-54
Anthony Goss 25-29 Shaun Broadbent 40-44 Clive Roberts 50-54
Thomas Harrison 25-29 David Chick 40-44 Reg Sheridan 50-54
David Kalinowski 25-29 Peter Dennis 40-44 William Stahlhut 50-54
Greg Lavelle 25-29 Paul Dilkes 40-44 Christopher Thompson 50-54
Matthew Le Maitre 25-29 Ben franzi 40-44 Neville Barry 55-59
Caleb McInnes 25-29 Troy Ibbott 40-44 Mark Blake 55-59
Ashley Portas 25-29 Timothy Lang 40-44 Robin Brown 55-59
Aaron Richardson 25-29 Craig May 40-44 Peter Brown 55-59
Adam Spratt 25-29 David Meade 40-44 (B) Peter Clark 55-59
Daniel Stein 25-29 (B) Sandy Park 40-44 Graeme Cole 55-59
Robert Taylor 25-29 David Sangster 40-44 Duncan Dark 55-59
Nicholas Teague 25-29 Justin Saunders 40-44 Martin Durkin 55-59
Wayne Veitch 25-29 Rodney Tanner 40-44 Stephen fenton 55-59
Chris Williams 25-29 Paul Taylor 40-44 William Hoogenboom 55-59
Brad Beer 30-34 (S) Ashley Ukich 40-44 Gregory Jones 55-59
Matthew Breakspear 30-34 Adrian Verdnik 40-44 Roy Kisbee 55-59
Damien Bulters 30-34 Clinton Watson 40-44 Geoffrey Lemmon 55-59
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Male Chris Cameron 60-64 John Allen 65-69
Peter Macartney 55-59 Rowland Cook 60-64 David Coulter 65-69
Mark Oakley Browne 55-59 Geoffrey Goss 60-64 Kerry Dowling 65-69
Greg Salter 55-59 (B) Philip Hanley 60-64 (S) Bob Harlow 65-69
Geoffrey Taylor 55-59 Philip Jefferies 60-64 Robert Hekking 65-69
Mike Tyler 55-59 Brian Kennelly 60-64 (G) Robert Martin 65-69
Stephen Wise 55-59 Marcus Roberts 60-64 Wilfred Deck 75-79
Martin Brigden 60-64 Gary Turner 60-64 Keith Pearce 75-79 (G)

WORLD SPRINT DISTANCE CHAMPIONSHIPS
AUCKLAND, NZL OCTOBER 2012

Female

freya Aisbitt 16-19 Louise Arrigo 30-34 Nicole David 40-44
Bonnie Atherton 16-19 Helen Bird 30-34 Niki Hale 40-44
Anna Bewley 16-19 Nolene Byrne 30-34 Anne Hardy 40-44
Stephanie Burstall 16-19 Jennifer Erskine 30-34 Catherine Jackson 40-44
Laura Dennis 16-19 Jessica faulks 30-34 Mary-Ann Seebeck 40-44
Elyse foster 16-19 Kate fryer 30-34 Elizabeth Sinclair 40-44
Ellen fraser 16-19 Leela Hancox 30-34 Tracey Spindler 40-44
Emma Jeffcoat 16-19 Sophie Hawken 30-34 (S) Helen Stark 40-44
Hannah McClusky 16-19 Kristyn Ibrihim 30-34 Sherri Stephens 40-44
Morgan Nicholls 16-19 Christina Ladyman 30-34 Kylie Stewart 40-44
Bridget Reilly 16-19 Rebecca Lewis 30-34 Belinda Vardy 40-44
Ayla Rudgley 16-19 Margo Mackintosh 30-34 Sara Ward-Collins 40-44
Sophie Walker 16-19 Morgan Marsh 30-34 Helen Bretten 45-49
Georgina Beech 20-24 Alecka Patralakis 30-34 Alison Croser 45-49
Sarah Hickey 20-24 Taryn Swan 30-34 Nicki Davies 45-49
Clare McCann 20-24 Hayley White 30-34 (B) Lindy Kronen 45-49
Kathryn Sandford 20-24 Jodie Barker 35-39 Georgina Macdonald 45-49
April Sloan 20-24 Janine Barrow 35-39 (B) Eugine Martinz 45-49
Ashley Thomas 20-24 Melissa Chamberlain 35-39 Sharleen  Mccormack 45-49
Renee Baker 25-29 Tamara Chapman 35-39 Vivian Mepstead 45-49
Kate Clark 25-29 Anna fuller 35-39 Linda O'Connor 45-49 (S)
Sarah Duffield 25-29 Tonette fung 35-39 Susan Rymer 45-49
Merinda Eckart 25-29 Zoe Hubball 35-39 Julie Stevens 45-49
Sarah Ellis 25-29 Sarah Koen 35-39 Merryn Truskett 45-49
fleur Garton 25-29 Carmen Low 35-39 Rowena Walker 45-49
Aeolyn Gwynne 25-29 Katherine Morris 35-39 Tammy White 45-49
Penelope Hosken 25-29 (G) Kate O'Keeffe 35-39 Christina Whiteside 45-49
Kym Ireland 25-29 Lauren Robertson 35-39 Caroline Brooks 50-54
Melinda Keynes 25-29 Penelope Sinton 35-39 Gayelene Clews 50-54
Lisa Krzys 25-29 Susan Stanton 35-39 Maureen Cummings 50-54 (B)
Sarah Lester 25-29 Christelle Van Niekerk 35-39 (G) Sandra Donnelly 50-54
Louisa Nicola 25-29 Caroline Sweeney 35-39 (S) Susan Donoghoe 50-54
Patrice O'Neill 25-29 Nicole Bruce 40-44 Suzette Gordon 50-54
Cara Schadel 25-29 Michelle Burns 40-44 Donna Hickey 50-54
Denyse Skipper 25-29 Catherine Chatterton 40-44 Clare Starr 50-54
Rebecca York 25-29 Tania Curley 40-44 Jennifer Strack 50-54 (G)
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Female

Ceinwyn Whittaker 50-54 Kathryn King 55-59 Rosemary Longstaff 60-64
Janelle Wilson 50-54 Karen McConnell 55-59 Angela Murray 60-64
Eleanor Dally 55-59 Belinda Soszyn 55-59 Elena Sheridan 60-64
Jennifer  Gunn 55-59 Cheryl Bruce 60-64 Monica Stewart 60-64
Sarah Hopkins 55-59 Therese Daamen 60-64 Janice Iredale 65-69 (B)

Male

Tyler Allan 16-19 Andrew Vincent 25-29 Andrew Cross 40-44
Damon Astley 16-19 Joel Walsh 25-29 Robert Edwards 40-44
Mitchell Baker 16-19 Thomas Warren 25-29 Shane Gale 40-44
Samuel Blake 16-19 Benjamin Webster 25-29 Darren Hardstaff 40-44
Lachlan Brown 16-19 Isaac Box 30-34 Carl Hoddy 40-44
Mitchell Brown 16-19 Adam Chadburn 30-34 Raymond Joy 40-44
Hayden Clifford 16-19 Patrick Dall 30-34 Nick Lanham 40-44
Daniel Coleman 16-19 (S) Shannon Dooland 30-34 Alistair McClusky 40-44
Thomas Currie 16-19 Tim Dornom 30-34 Jason Metters 40-44 (S)
Bryn Dodson 16-19 Paul fowler 30-34 Craig Mitchell 40-44
Angus Gibson 16-19 Joshua Henry 30-34 Tim O'connell 40-44
Hugh Harrison 16-19 Dane Holt 30-34 Rob Raulings 40-44
Declan Lane 16-19 Simon Lyell 30-34 David Scopelliti 40-44
Rennie Lewis 16-19 Scott Mahony 30-34 Dmitri Simons 40-44
Jonathan Linden 16-19 Scott McDonald 30-34 Karl Treacher 40-44
Thomas Ludington 16-19 Travis Moore 30-34 Mark Blake 45-49
Liam Rapley 16-19 Tom Morwood 30-34 Colin Davis 45-49 (B)
Mitchell Robertson 16-19 Gabriel Parker 30-34 Wayne Donley 45-49
Jack Stewart 16-19 Michael Prince 30-34 (G) Stephen Eastwood 45-49
Jordan Adams 20-24 Michael Taylor 30-34 Andrew fisher 45-49
Jake Belsar 20-24 Toby Coote 35-39 Peter Hansen 45-49
Sam Bolch 20-24 Mark Duncan 35-39 Matthew Johns 45-49
flynn Douglas 20-24 Michael Grau-Veliz 35-39 Paul Long 45-49
Tristan Harrison 20-24 David Hamer 35-39 Steven Mackay 45-49
Matt King 20-24 Stephen Kanowski 35-39 Steven Mackintosh 45-49
Matt Lewis 20-24 Peter Kay 35-39 Mick Maroney 45-49 (S)
Gregory Nolan 20-24 Daniel Kulk 35-39 Ron Meteyard 45-49
Dean Thurgood 20-24 Kevin Margetson 35-39 Rod Morrison 45-49
Jamie White 20-24 Gavin McKay 35-39 Michael Pratt 45-49
Matthew Carroll 25-29 Paul Menck 35-39 Johannes Wevers 45-49
Nick Conway 25-29 Drew Millar 35-39 Mark Wilgar 45-49
Shannan Dixon 25-29 Andrew Parker 35-39 Scott Wilson 45-49
Matthew fitzgerald 25-29 Timothy Pickering 35-39 Peter Bolton 50-54 (S)
Kenneth George 25-29 Brett Sweeney 35-39 Brian Bootle 50-54
Michael Glover 25-29 (B) James Trude 35-39 Campbell Dawson 50-54
Luke Hughes 25-29 Clint Van Beveren 35-39 Alan Draper 50-54
Warrick Maddocks 25-29 Paul Walton 35-39 Anthony Duffy 50-54
Nathan Miller 25-29 (G) Shaun Yates 35-39 Mike Hiser 50-54
Cameron Morrissey 25-29 Iain Addinel 40-44 Richard Ingle 50-54
Jason Rhine 25-29 Paul Bidgood 40-44 Richard Newton 50-54
Gareth Rydon 25-29 Philip Blyzno 40-44 Kerry Owens 50-54
Justin Tranter 25-29 Darren Carnell 40-44 (G) Phillip Parle 50-54
Vivek Varadarajan 25-29 Matthew Chamberlain 40-44 Simon Ronalds 50-54
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WORLD PARATRIATHLON CHAMPIONSHIPS
AUCKLAND, NZL OCTOBER 2012

Female Male

Claire McLean Tri 4 Bill Chaffey Tri 1 (G)
Dale Grant Tri 4
Michael Milton Tri 2
Jonathan Goerlach Tri 6

Male

Stephen Sitko 50-54 Wayne Skillman 55-59 Nigel Sandercoe 60-64
William Bardsley 55-59 Michael Stockdale 55-59 Peter Sheridan 60-64

Terry Crowe 55-59 Ross Allen 60-64 Don Smith 60-64
William frazer 55-59 David Barnes 60-64 Ken Murley 65-69 (G)
Kevin Goodwin 55-59 (G) David Baussmann 60-64 Peter Dwyer 70-74
John Graham 55-59 Eric Jarrett 60-64 Peter Smith 70-74
William Gunn 55-59 David Morton 60-64 John Bennetts 75-79 (G)
Geoff Hare 55-59 Stephen Obrien 60-64 Lachlan Lewis 75-79
Graham McConnell 55-59 Michael O'Keeffe 60-64 (B) frank Pearce 75-79
David Pirie 55-59 Peter Pracy 60-64 Radovan Leovic 85-89
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Report on the Financial Report 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Triathlon Australia Limited, (the group) which comprises 
the balance sheet as at 30 June 2013, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, 
other explanatory notes and the director’s declaration of the consolidated entity comprising Triathlon Australia 
Limited and the entity it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 
The directors of the group are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporation Act 2001.  This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report resulting from our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  Our audit does not 
involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors and management. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
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Independence 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the directors 
of Triathlon Australia Limited, would be in the same terms if provided to the directors as at the date of this 
auditor’s report. 
 
Auditor’s Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial report of Triathlon Australia Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 
 
a) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 

and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
………………………………………… 
Greg Thompson 
Auditor  
HURSTVILLE 
 
Date: 3 October 2013 
 
 



Triathlon Australia Limited  
ABN 67 007 356 907 

Directors' Report 

30 June 2013 

 

5 

Your directors present their report on the Company and its controlled entity for the financial year ended  
30 June 2013. 

1. Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were in accordance with the objects of the 
Company as outlined in the constitution which are: 

a. to be the national governing body for Triathlon and be recognised as such by the Australian 
Olympic Committee, Australian Commonwealth Games Committee, the ITU and the Australian 
Government; 

b. become and remain the only Australian affiliate of the ITU or its successor or assign, and 
represent and promote the interests of the members to the ITU; 

c. unite the STTAs, Affiliated Clubs and Individual Members; 

d. encourage, administer, promote, advance and manage Triathlon in Australia through 
competition and commercial means; 

e. ensure that Triathlon in Australia is carried on in a manner, which secures and enhances the 
safety of participants, officials, spectators and the public and which allow the sports to be 
competitive and fair; 

f. adopt, formulate, issue, interpret, implement and amend from time to time by-laws, rules and 
such other regulations as are necessary for the control and conduct of Triathlon in Australia; 

g. develop, manage and govern Triathlon in Australia in accordance with and having regard to 
the rules and regulations of the Company; 

h. arrange for national championships and the selection of national teams and training squads; 

i. determine, arrange and publish an annual Australian Triathlon calendar of events; 

j. pursue through itself or other such entity commercial arrangements, including sponsorship and 
marketing opportunities, as are appropriate to further the Objects; 

k. formulate or adopt and implement appropriate policies, including policies in relation to sexual 
harassment, equal opportunity, equity, drugs in sport, health, safety, infectious diseases and 
such other matters as arise from time to time as issues to be addressed in Triathlon; 

l. do all that is reasonably necessary to enable these Objects to be achieved and to enable the 
Members to receive the benefits which these Objects are intended to achieve; 

m. co-operate or join with or support any association, organisation, society, individual whose 
activities or purposes are similar to those of the Company or which advance Triathlon in 
Australia; 

n. have regard to the public interest in its operations; and undertake and or do all such things or 
activities as are necessary, incidental or conducive to the advancement of these Objects. 
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2. Operational Review 

a Financial Operating Results 

The consolidated surplus of the Group after providing for income tax and eliminating minority equity 
interests amounted to $138,137. 

b Dividends paid or declared 

In accordance with the Constitution of the Company the income and property of the Company must 
be applied solely towards the promotion of the Objects. 

No portion of the income or property of the Company may be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly 
by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise to any Member, 

No remuneration or other benefit in money or money’s worth may be paid by the Company to any 
Member who holds any office of the Company. 

c Funding of operations  

The Group has maintained its activities in the furtherance of its objectives through volunteer member 
resources, funding grants from government agencies, sponsorship and membership levies. 

The Group has also continued to undertake a whole of sport insurance policy. 

3. Other items 

a Significant Changes in State of Affairs 

No significant changes in the Group's state of affairs occurred during the financial year. 

b After balance day events  

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.  

c Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations 
Act 2001 is attached. 

d Rounding of amounts 

The Group is an entity to which ASIC Class order 98/100 applies and, accordingly, amounts in the 
financial statements and directors' report have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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e Future developments 

Likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in 
future financial years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is 
likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. 

f Environmental Issues 

The Group's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth or of a state or territory. 

4. Director and Company Secretary Information 

a Information on Directors 

  

 
The names of the Directors in office at any time during, or since the end of the year are: 

 
 Name Qualifications Elected/Appointed First elected Retired 

David Ferrier 
(President) 

Chartered Accountant 

Elected President 
27 October 2012 

(two year term) 

Elected 14 November 2009  

Peter Hedge 
(retiring President) 

Chartered Accountant 
Elected 9 October 2010 

(two year term) 
Elected 14 November 2009 

Retired 27 October 
2012 

Anthony Beven Solicitor 
Elected 9 October 2010 

(two year term) 

Elected October 2000 

 

Retired 27 October 
2012 

Cassandra Erbs Marketing Director 
Re -elected 27 October 2012 

(two year term) 
Elected 9 October 2010  

Murray Hilder Engineer 
Re-elected 15 October 2011 

(two year term) 
Elected 14 November 2009  

Ben Houston Lawyer 
Elected 27 October 2012 

(two year term) 
  

Jacqui Kenny 
Specialist Account 
Manager 

Re-appointed 27 October 2012 

(term until next AGM) 
Appointed February 2011  

Michael Maroney Teacher 
Appointed 22 May 2012 

(term until next AGM) 
  

Bryce Quirk Chartered Accountant 
Appointed 29 November 2012 

(term until next AGM) 
 

Resigned 1 February 
2013 

Miles Stewart Leasing Manager 
Re-appointed 27 October 2012 

(term until next AGM) 
Appointed 6 April 2011  

     

     

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless 
otherwise stated. 

 



Triathlon Australia Limited  
ABN 67 007 356 907 

Directors' Report 

30 June 2013 

 

8 

 

b Meetings of Directors 

During the financial year, 14 meetings of directors (excluding committees of directors) were held.  
Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 

 

 Directors' Meetings 

 

Eligible to 
attend 

Number 
attended 

David Ferrier 14 14 

Peter Hedge 4 3 

Anthony Beven 4 2 

Cassandra Erbs 14 12 

Murray Hilder 14 9 

Ben Houston 10 10 

Jacqui Kenny 14 11 

Michael Maroney 14 13 

Bryce Quirk 2 1 

Miles Stewart 14 13 

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial 
year, for any person who is or has been an officer or auditor of the Group. 

Company Secretary 

The following person held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the financial year: 

Anne Gripper, Chief Executive Officer, Triathlon Australia 

5. Options 

a No options granted or outstanding 

No options over issued shares or interests in the Group or a controlled entity were granted during or 
since the end of the financial year and there were no options outstanding at the date of this report. 

6. Proceedings on Behalf of Company 

a Leave or proceedings 

On the 27
th
 October 2011 World Indoor Triathlon Events Pty Ltd commenced legal proceedings 

against Triathlon Australia Ltd in relation to purported contractual arrangements dating back to 2008.  
Collins, Biggers & Paisley represented the Group in this matter.  The settlement amount, associated 
legal costs and a provision for the settlement of alleged legal costs incurred were included as an 
extraordinary item in the 2012 Financial Statements.  This matter is now settled in full.  The Group 
was not a party to any other proceedings during the year. 
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7. Sign off details 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 

 

 

David Ferrier 

President 

Triathlon Australia Limited  

 

3 October  2013 
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The directors of the Group declare that: 
 
1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages11 to 39, are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001: 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards; and 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of the performance for the 
year ended on that date of the Group and consolidated group. 

 
2.  In the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts 

as and when they become due and payable.  

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 
David Ferrier 

President 

Triathlon Australia Limited 

 

3  October  2013 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

 

Revenue 2  4,081,588 3,812,852  4,081,588 3,812,852 

        

 

Sydney World Cup Funding    - 2,154,429  - 2,154,429 

 

Employee benefits expense   (988,808) (726,668)  (988,808) (726,668) 

 

Depreciation of plant and equipment 3  (23,803) (26,993)  (23,803) (26,993) 

 

Rent 3  (40,895) (42,107)  (40,895) (42,107) 

 

Competition expenses   (352,541) (43,366)  (352,541) (43,366) 

 

Insurance expenses   (338,746) (369,016)  (338,746) (369,016) 

 

Travel and accommodation expenses   (327,850) (265,231)  (327,850) (265,231) 

 

Elite Athlete Services   (1,303,410) (1,568,818)  (1,303,410) (1,568,818) 

 

Sydney World cup expenses   - (2,154,429)  - (2,154,429) 

 

Impairment expense   - -  - (915) 

 

Sport development   (337,560) (151,906)  (337,560) (151,906) 

 

Other expenses   (217,384) (170,280)  (217,384) (169,365) 

 

Extraordinary Items   (12,454) (187,471)  (12,454) (187,471) 

 

Operating Profit before income tax   138,137 260,996  138,137 260,996 

Provision for income tax   - -  - - 

Profit attributable to members   138,137 260,996  138,137 260,996 

 

Other comprehensive income   - -  - - 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year   138,137 260,996  138,137 260,996 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year attributable to members   138,137 260,996  138,137 260,996 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

ASSETS        

Current assets        

 

Cash and cash equivalents 4  1,137,466 1,678,199  1,137,466 1,678,197 

 

Investments- Term Deposits 5  682,803 382,803  682,803 382,803 

        

Trade and other receivables 6  784,548 644,372  784,548 644,372 

 

Prepayments and Deposits 7  444,199 365,331  444,199 365,331 

 

Other current assets 8  20,000 64,410  20,000 64,410 

Total current assets   3,069,516 3,135,115  3,069,516 3,135,113 

Non-current assets        

Investments accounted for using the 
equity method   - -  - 2 

 

Property, plant and equipment 9  21,501 30,042  21,501 30,042 

Total non-current assets   21,501 30,042  21,501 30,044 

TOTAL ASSETS   3,091,017 3,165,157  3,091,017 3,165,157 

LIABILITIES        

Current liabilities        

 

Trade and other payables 10  2,153,232 2,403,772  2,153,232 2,403,772 

 

Provisions 11  91,504 53,242  91,504 53,242 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   2,244,736 2,457,014  2,244,736 2,457,014 

NET ASSETS   846,281 708,143  846,281 708,143 

 

EQUITY        

 

Distributable reserve   846,281 708,143  846,281 708,143 
 

TOTAL EQUITY   846,281 708,143  846,281 708,143 
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2013 Parent 

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2012  708,143 708,143 

Profit attributable to members  138,137 138,137 

Balance at 30 June 2013  846,281 846,281 

 

2012 Parent 

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2011  447,147 447,147 

Profit attributable to members  260,996 260,996 

Balance at 30 June 2012  708,143 708,143 

 

 

 

2013 Consolidated 

 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2012 708,143 708,143 

Profit attributable to members 138,137 138,137 

Balance at 30 June 2013 846,281 846,281 

 

2012 Consolidated 

 

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2011 447,147 447,147 

Profit attributable to members 260,996 260,996 

Balance at 30 June 2012 708,143 708,143 
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  Consolidated Parent 

 Note  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

Cash from operating activities:        

Receipts from customers   4,091,542 5,356,677  4,091,542 5,351,865 

Payments to suppliers and employees   (4,356,096) (5,651,423)  (4,356,096) (5,651,422) 

Interest received   39,583 39,867  39,583 39,867 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 16  (224,971) (254,879)  (224,971) (259,690) 

 

Cash flows from investing activities:        

Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment   (15,262) (14,705)  (15,262) (14,705) 

Receipts on sale of plant 

  

   - 

 

   - 

Investment in Term Deposits  (300,000) (382,803) (300,000) (382,803) 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
investing activities   (315,262)  (397,508)  (315,262)  (397,508) 

 

Cash flows from Financing activities:        

Borrowings   - -  - - 

Net cash provided by (used in) 
Financing  activities   - -  - - 

        

Net increase (decreases) in cash held   (540,233) (652,387)  (540,233) (652,387) 

Cash at beginning of financial year   1,678,199 2,330,586  1,678,199 2,330,586 

Cash at end of financial year 4  1,137,966 1,678,199  1,137,966 1,678,199 
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1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) General information 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in 
accordance with Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would 
result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events 
and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements 
are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements cover the economic entity of Triathlon Australia Limited as an individual 
parent entity and Triathlon Australia Limited and the controlled entity as an economic entity.  
Triathlon Australia Limited is a Group limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the 
preparation of the financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless 
otherwise stated. 

(b) Basis of Preparation 

 Reporting Basis and Conventions 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, 
modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 
financial assets and financial liabilities. 

(c) Comparative Figures 

Where required by accounting standards comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with 
changes in presentation for the current financial year. 

(d) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Inventories acquired at 
no cost, or for nominal consideration are valued at the current replacement cost as at the date of 
acquisition. 

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair values as indicated, less, where 
applicable, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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 Plant and equipment  

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 

The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to ensure it is not in 
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the 
basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the asset’s employment and 
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in 
determining recoverable amounts. 

 Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the asset’s useful life to the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for 
use. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are: 
 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Plant and equipment 10 –50% 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

Asset classes carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These gains or losses are included in the statement of comprehensive income. When revalued 
assets are sold, amounts included in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to 
retained earnings. 

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. Term deposits with maturity of more than three months have been shown as investments. 

(g) Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for the Group's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to the end of the reporting period.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled 
within one year have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, 
plus related on-costs.  Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the 
liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee 
may not satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash outflows are discounted using market yields on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows. 
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Contributions are made by the entity to an employee superannuation fund and are charged as 
expenses when incurred. 

(h) Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the 
entity commits itself to either purchase or sell the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted). 

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs except where the 
instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss immediately .Financial instruments are classified and measured as set out 
below. 

Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the 
asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing 
involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the 
carrying value of the financial liability, which is extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair 
value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Classification and subsequent measurement 

Finance instruments are subsequently measured at either fair value, amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, or cost.  Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties.  Where available, quoted prices in an 
active market are used to determine fair value.In other circumstances, valuation techniques are 
adopted. 
 

 (i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are held for trading for 

the purpose of short term profit taking, or where they are derivatives not held for hedging purposes, 

or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance 

evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair 

value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets 

are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or 

loss. 

 

 (ii) Loans and receivables 

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Loans and 

receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 

12 months after the end of the reporting period, which are classified as non-current assets. 
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 (iii) Held-to-maturity investments 

 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 

or determinable payments, and it is the entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity.  They 

are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Held to maturity investments are included in non-

current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after the end of 

the reporting period. If during the period the company sold or reclassified more than an insignificant 

amount of the held-to-maturity investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investment 

would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. 

 (iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not capable of 

being classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as 

such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is 

neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.available-for-sale financial assets are 

included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to be disposed of within 

12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

 

 (v) Financial liabilities 

 Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost. 

Fair value 

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques 

are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length 

transactions, reference to similar instruments and option pricing models. 

Impairment 

At the end of each reporting period, the entity assesses whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a 

prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment 

has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

(i) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. Provisions recognised represent the best estimate of the amounts required to 
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

(j) Contributions 

Triathlon Australia Limited receives non-reciprocal contributions from the government and other 
parties for no or a nominal value. These contributions are recognised at the fair value on the date of 
acquisition upon which time an asset is taken up in the balance sheet and revenue in the income 
statement. 

(k) Revenue 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised upon the delivery of goods to customers. 
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Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity obtains 
control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the 
entity and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied. 

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 
the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt. 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which for floating rate 
financial assets is the rate inherent in the instrument. 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the 
customers. 

(l) Intangibles 

Software 
 Software is recorded at cost. Software has a finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated 

amortisation and impairment losses. It has an estimated useful life of between one and two years. It 

is assessed annually for impairment. 

(m) Economic Dependence 

Triathlon Australia Limited is dependent on the Australian Sports Commission for a significant part of 
its revenue used to fund the High Performance and Sport Development programs. At the date of this 
report the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the Australian Sports Commission will not 
continue to support Triathlon Australia Limited. 

(n) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 

(o) Rounding of Amounts 

The Group has applied the relief available to it under ASIC Class Order 98/100 and accordingly, 
amounts in the financial report and directors' report have been rounded off to the nearest $1. 
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(p) Impairment of Assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have been impaired.  If such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell 
and value in use, is compared to the asset's carrying value.  Any excess of the asset's carrying value 
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. 

Where the future economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent upon the asset’s ability 
to generate net cash inflows and when the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining 
future economic benefits, value in use is determined as the depreciated replacement cost of an 
asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset’s class, the entity estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the class of assets belong. 

Where an impairment loss on a revalued asset is identified, this is debited against the revaluation 
reserve in respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed 
the amount in the revaluation surplus for that same class of asset. 

(q) Classification of leases in financial statements of lessees 

Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to the ownership of 
the asset, but not the legal ownership, are transferred to the entity are classified as finance leases.  
Finance leases are capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, including any residual values. Leased assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the entity will obtain 
ownership of the asset.  Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability 
and the lease interest expense for the period. 

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the 
lessor, are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(r) Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statementsbased on 
historical knowledge and best available current information.  Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the group. 
 

Key Estimates 

Impairment 

The group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluation of conditions and events 

specific to the group that may be indicative of impairment triggers.  Recoverable amounts of relevant 

assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.   

 

(s) Income Tax 

 No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Division 

50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997. 
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2 Revenue 

 Consolidated Parent 

  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

Sponsorship  175,000 -  175,000 - 

 

Affiliation &Membership fees  1,252,840 1,281,013  1,252,840 1,281,013 

 

Interest received  39,543 39,867  39,543 39,867 

       

Athlete levies received and expended  341,095 59,238  341,095 59,238 

 

Uniform sales   - (302)  - (302) 

 

Other  12,207 158,291  12,207 158,291 

 

Write back of prior period income  - -  - - 

  1,820,725 1,538,107  1,820,725 1,538,107 

 

Funding received and expended on 
programs and funded events  2,260,863 4,429,174  2,260,863 4,429,174 

 

Total  4,081,588 5,967,281  4,081,588 5,967,281 

3 Profit from Extraordinary Activities 

(a) Expenses 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  23,803 26,993  23,803 26,993 

Rent  40,895 42,107  40,895 42,107 

Extraordinary Item   187,471   187,471 

The extraordinary item in 2012: relates to the claim by World Indoor Events Pty Ltd and includes the settled 
sum and legal fees associated with the claim 
 

4 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash on hand  500 -  500 - 

Cash at bank  1,137,466 1,678,199  1,137,466 1,678,197 

  1,137,966 1,678,199  1,137,966 1,678,197 
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 Consolidated Parent 

  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

 Reconciliation of Cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year 
as shown in the cash flow statement 
is reconciled to items in the balance 
sheet as follows:        

Cash and cash equivalents   1,137,966 1,678,199  1,137,966 1,678,197 

   1,137,966 1,678,199  1,137,966 1,678,197 

5 Investments 

Current        

Term Deposits    682,803 382,803  682,803 382,803 

   682,803 382,803  682,803 382,803 

6 Trade and Other Receivables 

Current        

Trade receivables   794,548 654,372  794,548 654,372 

Provision for impairment of 
receivables   (10,000) (10,000)  (10,000) (10,000) 

Amounts receivable from related 
parties 

  - -  - 650,501 

Provision for impairment of related 
parties   - -  - (649,566) 

   784,548 644,372  784,548 645,307 

  

 Credit Risk — Trade and Other Receivables 

 The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of 
receivables. 

 The following table details the company’s trade and other receivables exposed to credit risk (prior to 
collateral and other credit enhancements) with ageing analysis and impairment provided for thereon. 

 Amounts are considered as ‘past due’ when the debt has not been settled within the terms and conditions 
agreed between the company and the customer or counter party to the transaction.  

 Receivables that are past due are assessed for impairment by ascertaining solvency of the debtors and are 
provided for where there are specific circumstances indicating that the debt may not be fully repaid to the 
company. 

 The balances of receivables that remain within initial trade terms (as detailed in the table) are considered to 
be of high credit quality, or have already been impaired. 
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 Consolidated 

  

Gross amount 

Past due and 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired 

(days overdue) Within initial  

trade terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2013        

 Trade and term 

receivables 

794,548 - 752,804 400 26,293 15,051 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 794,548 - 752,804 400 26,293 15,051 - 

         

 2012        

 Trade and term 

receivables 

644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 
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 Parent 

  

Gross amount 

Past due and 

impaired 

Past due but not impaired 

(days overdue) Within initial  

trade terms   < 30 31–60 61–90 > 90 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

 2013        

 Trade and term 

receivables 

794,548 - 752,804 400 26,293 15,051 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 794,548 - 752,804 400 26,293 15,051 - 

         

 2012        

 Trade and term 

receivables 

644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 

 Other receivables - - - - - - - 

 Total 644,372 - 503,432 33,493 9,015 98,432 - 
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 Consolidated Parent 

  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

 

7 Prepayments and Deposits 

Deposits  17,625 -  17,625 - 

Prepayments  426,574 365,331  426,574 365,331 

  444,199 365,331  444,199 365,331 

8 Other Assets 

Current:       

Sundry debtors  20,000 64,410  20,000 64,410 

  20,000 64,410  20,000 64,410 

9 Property Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment at cost  73,676 114,942  73,676 114,942 

Less accumulated depreciation  (52,175) (84,900)  (52,175) (84,900) 

Total property, plant and equipment  21,501 30,042  21,501 30,042 

 

(a) Movements in Carrying Amounts 

Consolidated  

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Current Year    

Balance at the beginning of year  30,042 30,042 

Additions  15,262 15,262 

Depreciation  (23,803) (23,803) 

Disposals  - - 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2013  21,501 21,501 

 

Prior Year 

 

  

Balance at the beginning of year  42,330 42,330 

Additions  14,705 14,705 

Depreciation  (26,993) (26,993) 

Disposals  - - 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2012 
 30,042 30,042 
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Parent  

Plant and 
Equipment 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Current Year    

Balance at the beginning of year  30,042 30,042 

Additions  15,262 15,262 

Depreciation  (23,803) (23,803) 

Disposals  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2013 
 21,501 21,501 

Prior Year 
 

  

Balance at the beginning of year  42,330 42,330 

Additions  14,705 14,705 

Depreciation  (26,993) (26,993) 

Disposals  - - 

Balance at 30 June 2012 
 30,042 30,042 

  

 

 

 

Consolidated Parent 

  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$  

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

10 Trade and Other Payables 

Current: 

Trade payables  573,158 760,945  573,158 760,945 

Unearned revenues  1,101,665 1,030,856  1,101,665 1,030,856 

Sundry creditors and accrued expenses  409,446 612,980  409,446 612,980 

GST payable / (receivable)  68,962 (3,509)  68,962 (3,509)  

Other payables  - 2,500  - 2,500  

  2,153,232 2,403,772  2,153,232 2,403,772 
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11 Provisions 

Current:       

Employee benefits  91,504  53,242  91,504  53,242  

  91,504  53,242   91,504  53,242  

12 Related Party Transactions 

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable 
than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

13 Auditors' Remuneration 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent 
entity for:       

- Auditing or reviewing the financial report 

  12,950   11,110   12,950  
  
 11,110 

14 Segment Reporting 

The Group operates predominately in one business and geographical segment being administration of the 
sport of triathlon in Australia. 

15 Capital and Leasing Commitments 

(a) Operating Lease Commitments 

Future operating lease rentals not provided for in the financial statements and payable: 

Payable - minimum lease payments       

- not later than 12 months    66,637     66,637  

- between 12 months and 5 years    141,000     141,000  

    207,637     207,637  
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16 Cash Flow Information      

     

(a) Reconciliation of Cash flow from Operations with 

Profit after Income Tax 

 

    

 Profit after income tax 138,137 260,996 138,137 260,996 

  

Non cash flows 
    

 Depreciation and amortisation 23,803 26,993 23,803 26,993 

  

Changes in assets and liabilities  

 

    

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (140,176) (580,059) (140,176) (580,059) 

  (Increase)/decrease in other assets  44,410 44,410 44,410 (69,610) 

  (Increase)/decrease in prepayments (78,868) (78,868) (78,868) (357,218) 

  Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (250,539) (300,539) (250,539) 432,941 

  Increase/(decrease) in provisions 38,262 38,262 38,262 26,267 

       

  (224,971) (254,879) (224,971) (259,690)  

       

17 Controlled Entities 

Investment in shares: 

The Investment in shares of Tri Aus Events Pty Ltd was written off on receipt of application for Tri Aus 
Events Pty Ltd to be deregistered by ASIC. The company did not trade in the financial year ended 30 June 
2013. 

Inter-company transactions: 

At 30 June 2012 there was a receivable of $650,501 from Tri Aus Events Pty Ltd recorded as an asset of 
the Parent entity with a corresponding provision against the receivable of $649,566. An amount of $649,578 
was written off by the Parent entity on deregistration of Tri Aus Events Pty Ltd.
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18 Financial Instruments 

(a) Financial Risk Management 

The entity’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market 
instruments, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable.  

The entity does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2013. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as 
detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 
 

  Consolidated Parent 

 Note 2013 2012 2013 2012 

  $ $ $ $ 

 Financial Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalents 4 1,137,966 1,678,199 1,137,966 1,678,197 

 Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 

     

 — Held for trading  - -  - 

 Held-to-maturity investments      

 — Government and fixed interest 

securities 

     5 682,803 382,803 682,803 382,803 

 Loans and receivables 6 784,548   644,372 784,548 644,372 

 Available-for-sale financial assets      

 — Shares in listed corporations  - -  - 

  2,604,817 2,705,374 2,604,817 2,705,372 

 Financial Liabilities      

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost      

 — Trade and other payables 10 2,153,232 2,403,772 2,153,232 2,403,772 

 — Borrowings  -  -  

   2,153,232 2,403,772 2,153,232 2,103,232 

  

 Treasury Risk Management 

 A finance committee consisting of senior committee members meet on a regular basis to analyse 

financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most 

recent economic conditions and forecasts. 

 Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

 The main risks the entity is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, 

liquidity risk and credit risk. 

 Interest rate risk 

 Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt. At 30 June 2013 there 

is no fixed rate debt. 
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 Foreign currency risk 

 The entity is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 

  

 Liquidity risk 

 The entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate unutilised 

borrowing facilities are maintained. 

 

 Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis 

Consolidated 

 Note Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Total contractual cash 

flow 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due 

for payment 

       

Lease Liabilities  - - - - - - 

Trade and other payables 

(excluding estimated 

annual leave and deferred 

income) 

 759,977 1,013,927 - - 759,977 1,013,927 

Total expected outflows  759,977 1,013,927 - - 759,977 1,013,927 

        

Financial assets — cash 

flows realisable 

       

Cash and cash equivalents  1,137,966 1,678,199 - - 1,137,966 1,678,199 

Trade, term and loans 

receivables 

 804,548 708,782 - - 804,548 708,782 

Other investments (term 

deposits) 

 682,803 382,803 - - 682,803 382,803 

Total anticipated inflows   2,625,317 2,769,784 - - 2,625,317 2,769,784 

Net (outflow)/inflow on 

financial instruments 

 
1,865,340 1,755,857 - - 1,865,340 1,755,857 
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Parent 

 Note Within 1 Year 1 to 5 Years Total contractual cash 

flow 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

  $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Financial liabilities due 

for payment 

       

Lease Liabilities  - - - - - - 

Trade and other payables 

(excluding estimated 

annual leave and deferred 

income) 

  

 
759,977 

 

 
1,013,927 

 

 
- 

 

 
- 

 

 
759,977 

 

 
1,013,927 

Total expected outflows  759,977 1,013,927 - - 759,977 1,013,927 

        

Financial assets — cash 

flows realisable 

       

Cash and cash equivalents  1,137,966 1,678,197 - - 1,137,966 1,678,197 

Trade, term and loans 

receivables 

 804,548 708,782 - - 804,548 708,782 

Other investments  682,803 382,805 - - 682,803 382,805 

Total anticipated inflows   2,625,317 2,769,784 - - 2,625,317 2,769,784 

Net (outflow)/inflow on 

financial instruments 

 
1,865,340 1,755,857 

 
- 

 
- 1,865,340 1,755,857 

 Credit risk 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 

date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those 

assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. The entity does not have 

any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 

instruments entered into by the entity. 

 There are no material amounts of collateral held as security at 30 June 2013. 

 Credit risk is managed by the entity and reviewed regularly by the finance committee. It arises from 

exposures to customers as well as through deposits with financial institutions. 

 The entity monitors the credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counterparties: 

 — Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ rating are utilised. 

 — Only accredited fund managers linked to ‘A’ rated financial institutions are used. 

 — The credit standing of counterparties is reviewed monthly for liquidity and credit risk. 

 The trade receivables balances at 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 do not include any counterparties 

with external credit ratings. Customers are assessed for credit worthiness using the criteria detailed 

above. 

 Price risk 

 The entity is not exposed to any material commodity price risk. 



Triathlon Australia Limited 
ABN 67 007 356 907 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2013 

 

18 Financial Instruments continued 

32 

(b) Financial Instruments Composition and Maturity Analysis 

The table below reflects the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments of a fixed period of maturity, as well as management’s 
expectations of the settlement period for all other financial instruments. As such, the amounts may not reconcile to the balance sheet. 

 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate Floating Interest Rate Non-interest Bearing Total 

 

2013 

% 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

2013 

$ 

2012 

$ 

Financial Assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents 1.97% 1,137,966  1,678,199    - 1,137,966  1,678,199  

Investments – Term Deposits 3.70% 682,803  382,803    - 682,803  382,803  

Receivables  -  - 804,548  708,782  804,548  708,782  

Total Financial Assets 
 1,820,769  2,061,002    708,782  2,625,317  2,769,784  

Financial Liabilities:        

Trade and sundry payables  -  - 2,153,232  2,403,772  2,153,232  2,403,772  

Total Financial Liabilities  -  - 2,153,232 2,403,772 2,153,232  2,403,772  
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Trade and sundry payables are expected to be paid as follows: 

Trade payables of $573,158 include payable in less than 3 months $571,606 (2012: $760,945) and 
payable more than 3 months $1,552 (2012: nil) 

Sundry payables of $67,856 are all payable in less than 3 months (2012: $252,982).    

(c) Net Fair Values 

The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance 
date adjusted for transaction costs expected to be incurred. For other assets and other liabilities the 
net fair value approximates their carrying values. No financial assets or financial liabilities are readily 
traded on organised markets in standardised form other than listed investments. Financial assets 
where the carrying amount exceeds net fair values have not been written down as the consolidated 
group intends to hold these assets to maturity. 

The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
disclosed in the balance sheet and in the notes to the financial statements. 

Triathlon Australia Limited has no non-current borrowings. 

 Sensitivity Analysis  

The entity performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance 
date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates that there is an immaterial effect on current year 
results and equity which could result from a change in this risk, with the primary impact being on 
the quantum of interest earned from interest bearing investments. It is calculated that the impact 
on earnings and equity of an interest rate increase or decrease of 2% is $72,830  (2012: $82,440).  

This sensitivity analysis has been performed on the assumption that all other variables remain 
unchanged. 

No sensitivity analysis has been preformed for foreign exchange risk, as the entity is not exposed 
to fluctuations in foreign exchange. 
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19 Capital Management  

Management controls the capital of the entity to ensure that adequate cash flows are generated to 

fund its mentoring programs and that returns from investments are maximised.  The finance 

committee ensures that the overall risk management strategy is in line with this objective. 

The finance committee operates under policies approved by the board of directors.  Risk 

management policies are approved and reviewed by the board on a regular basis.  These include 

credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 

The entity’s capital consists of financial liabilities, supported by financial assets. 

Management effectively manage the entity’s capital by assessing the entity’s financial risks and 

responding to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses may include the 

consideration of debt levels. 

There have been no changes to the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the 

entity since previous year.   

The gearing ratios for the years ended 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 are as follows: 

 

 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

Financial liabilities    

Trade and other payables  2,153,232 2,403,772 

Total  2,153,232 2,403,772 

Less cash and cash equivalents (including term 

deposits) 

 1,820,269 2,061,002 

Net debt  332,963 342,770 

    

Total equity (reserves + retained earnings)  846,281 708,143 

    

Gearing ratio 

 

 N/A N/A 

 

20 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

 

Short-term 
benefits 

$ 

Post 
employment 

benefits 

$ 

Total 

$ 

2013    

Total compensation 147,889 13,211 161,100 

2012    

Total compensation  146,789   13,211  160,000  
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21 Company Details 

Registered office 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Group is: 

 

Triathlon Australia Limited 

Level 2, 

66 Wentworth Avenue 

SURRY HILLS NSW   2010 

 

 

22 Members’ Guarantee 
The entity is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is an entity limited by guarantee. If the entity is 
wound up, the constitution states that each member is required to contribute a maximum of $1 each towards 
meeting any outstanding amounts and other obligations of the entity. At 30 June 2013 the number of members 
was 14,152 (in 2012 number of members was 11,928). 
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I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of the financial year 
ended 30 June 2013, there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

 

Greg Thompson 

Auditor 
HURSTVILLE 
 
Date: 02   September 2013 
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